# Better welfare for mice through handling and training



Research Project Veterinary Medicine University Utrecht Department Population Health Sciences; Division: Animals in Science and Society (DWM)

<u>Student:</u> Kathy van Eldik (6111858) <u>Tutor:</u> Dr. E.M.A. (Esther) Langen <u>Deadline:</u> 09 - 02 - 2021

## Table of contents

Abstract	3
Introduction	4
History C3H strain	4
Characteristics C3H strain	4
Laboratory use of mice	4
Stress	5
Welfare and reduction	5
Non-aversion handling methods	5
Training to reduce restraining	6
Conditioning	6
Reinforcement	7
Clickertraining	8
Current study	8
Materials and methods	10
Animals	10
Methods of habituation, linking and training	11
Habituation	11
Linking	12
Training	13
Injections ('last measurement')	15
Measurements	15
The time it takes for mice to stand on the right side of the platform	17
The time the mice are on the right side of the platform	17
The number of times the mice exhibited behaviors	17
The number of times / the time the mice seek contact with the researcher	17
Scoring behaviors	18
Ethogram	18
Statistics	21
Missing data / results	23
Results	24
The time it takes for trained mice to move directly to the right side of the platform	24
The percentage of total session time the mice stand on the right side of the platform	24
Differences between trained and control animals across sessions	24
Differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurem	ent 25
The number of times the mice exhibited behaviors	26
Freezing; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction	26
Grooming; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction	27
Rear; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction	27

Sniffing the platform; differences between trained and control animals, the first ar the last measurement, and their interaction	าd 28
Defecation; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the las measurement, and their interaction	t 28
Escape attempt; differences between trained and control animals, the first and th last measurement, and their interaction	e 29
Stretch attend; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the measurement, and their interaction	last 29
Freezing; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	30
Grooming; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	: 30
Rear; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	31
Sniffing the platform; differences between trained, control and naive animals duri the last measurement	ng 31
Defecation; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the las measurement	st 32
Escape attempt; differences between trained, control and naive animals during th last measurement	າe 32
Stretch attend; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the measurement	last 33
The number of times / the time the mice seek contact with the researcher	34
Sniffle at 0.5 cm of the hand; differences between trained, control and naive anin during the last measurement	nals 34
Put a paw on the hand; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	34
Touch the hand; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	าe 35
Jump on the hand; differences between trained, control and naive animals during last measurement	) the 35
Eating the reward; differences between trained, control and naive animals during last measurement	the 36
Total time the mice are on the hand; differences between trained, control and national animals during the last measurement	ive 36
Total time the mice seek contact; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	37
Pull back; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	38
Time it takes for the mice to be injected; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement	l 38
Discussion	40
Results	40
Training to go to the right side of the platform	40
The time it takes for the mice to stand directly to the right side of the platform	40
Percentage of time the mice are on the right side of the platform	41
Training to experience less stress and seek more contact with the researcher	42

The number of times the mice exhibited behaviors	42
The number of times / the time the mice seek contact with the researcher	44
The importance of habituation	45
Limitations	46
Recommendations future research	47
Conclusion	48
Acknowledgement	49
References	50
Appendix 1, 2 and 3	

## Abstract

The question to be answered with this study was whether it was possible to train mice to use less restraining during a subcutaneous injection, so that it could ultimately lead to less stress and better well-being for the mice, and a less negative association with the researcher. This was done with female C3H mice by means of clicker training (the bridging stimulus was a dog whistle and the reward peanut butter), the mice were trained through several steps / levels to stand to the right side of the platform and to allow an injection on a platform in a training cage. Attention was paid to the time it took for the mouse to first stand to the right. how much percentage of the time the mice stood to the right side of the platform during training, behaviors (which could be influenced by stress) and contact-seeking behaviors towards the researcher. The study ultimately found that there was more habituation than training, because only touch the hand of the researcher, eating of the reward, the number of times the mouse withdrew and the time it took to inject were significantly different. And there were no differences in time right, behaviors or many contact seeking behaviors with the researcher, which would be affected by training. Thus habituation has caused that an injection could be given with less restraining. This led to a stress reduction and with that an improvement in well-being, and also ensured a less negative association with the researcher.

## Introduction

### History C3H strain

In this study, laboratory mice of the inbred strain C3H (C3H / HeOuJ) are used. These mice descend from the species *Mus musculus* (in common language the house mouse), which consists of three main subspecies. The laboratory strains originated from several subspecies and the most from the subspecies *M. musculus domesticus* <sup>1-3</sup>, but the exact percentage attributed to the subspecies *M. musculus domesticus* differs in a number of studies <sup>4,5</sup>. So that is in short the history of the C3H mouse and how this inbreeding strain originated.

## Characteristics C3H strain

A number of characteristics of this strain C3H, and specifically C3H/HeOuJ mice, is that these mice are homozygous for the retinal degeneration 1 mutation (Pde6brd1), which causes the mice to be blind at weaning age <sup>6</sup>. So studies can not work with sight. In a study by Southwick et al. <sup>7</sup>, it is indicated that there is little aggression between individuals of this mouse strain <sup>7</sup>. In another study by Wahlsten et al. <sup>8</sup>, it is stated that this also contributes to that the mice of this strain are easy to handle. This was reflected in the fact that the mice showed little evasive behavior during capture and the wrestling while holding was also low, but the squeak of the mice was average <sup>8</sup>. For research it is nice to know that mice are easy to handle, this can be of benefit in comparison to animals that are difficult to handle.

### Laboratory use of mice

As is clear from above, the origin of the laboratory mice, including the inbred C3H strain, has a long history. But why are mice actually used as laboratory animals? Mice are used as laboratory animals because they can live and breed in a small area, have a small size and are omnivorous. They can also be handled regularly by humans and have short generation times of between 9-11 weeks. In the lab, mice can breed all year when kept under the right environmental conditions and provided with sufficient food <sup>2</sup>. So because of its properties, the mouse is easy to keep as a laboratory animal.

Besides being easy to house, mice are also used in pre-clinical trials and research because they can serve as a model for human diseases. Mice are popular for these studies because, like humans, they are mammals and genes from mice are for 95% similar to those of humans. Mice can also be used in genetic studies, because genes can easily be manipulated in mice to provide more information about the functioning of certain genes and this genetic modification may be another way of making a model for human disease<sup>9</sup>. Mice have been used as research animals for a century. As a result, a lot of resources and tools have been developed to work with mice in laboratory environments<sup>10</sup>. It is also often the case that the used mice come from one and the same inbred strain. This makes research even more reliable, because there are few genetic differences between the mice of one inbreeding strain, which are also referred to as identical multiples<sup>11-13</sup> (although some form of genetic variation always remains).

Not only are mice being used in all kinds of research, they are also often used in teaching, for example to train future researchers, caretakers or vet students how to handle these animals and to perform actions such as injections.

## Stress

It is conceivable that a mouse as a laboratory animal can experience stress. When looking at what exactly stresses mice, there are many things that can cause stress in mice. Mice can become stressed from social stressors, such as isolation or the opposite, crowding, but also from a social defeat (for example, placing a dominant animal in an animal's home cage) <sup>14</sup>. But mice can also get stressed from many things in the environment/laboratory. These things include for instance bright light, noises and smells, but also handling and restraining by researchers because they exist in the social environment of the mice <sup>15,16</sup>. Handling is known to cause stress, because mice get an acute stress response, seen by increasing the heart rate and body temperature, through handling <sup>17</sup>. Repeated restraining can be used to cause chronic stress in rats, which can then lead to depression-like behavior in these animals <sup>18</sup>. Not only handling and restraining can cause stress, but also certain experimental procedures such as injections can cause an acute stress response in mice <sup>19</sup>.

## Welfare and reduction

When using animals as laboratory animals, the animal must always be taken into account and care must be taken to ensure that the welfare of an animal is not unnecessarily compromised. As described above, a mouse is likely to experience stress as a laboratory animal and from a welfare point of view this should be reduced. This is also included in the law, which states that it must be avoided to let an animal experience unnecessary pain and stress <sup>20</sup>. In a research by Neely et al. <sup>15</sup> it is also stated that reducing the amount of stressors can help to improve the welfare of animals, and here specifically that of mice <sup>15</sup>. It is most important to improve the welfare of laboratory animals, but a second reason why stress is not good in laboratory animals is because it can affect the results of studies <sup>19,21</sup>. It is given by research from Gouveia et al.<sup>21</sup> that the test results of behaviour tests are "better" if the mice have less stress through handling <sup>21</sup>. In this research mice had to distinguish between 2 urinary stimuli in successive experiments. Mice with less stress by the use of the tunnel handling method (described below) had much willingness to explore and investigate test stimuli. This was an advantage in this behaviour test, because it was recorded how long the animals were sniffing/examining the urinary stimulus. While mice picked up by the tail had little willingness <sup>21</sup>. So given that restraining and handling stressed mice, it can be tried to reduce this in the favor of the mouse's welfare and the results of the study. This certainly also corresponds to the three Rs (replacement, reduction and refinement) that

need to be checked for each animal experiment. Replacement stands for the replacement of animals by non-sentient alternatives. Reduction means minimizing the number of animals used. And Refinement indicates that animals used in experiments should experience as little pain and stress as possible <sup>22</sup>. The latter term therefore also includes handling, restraining and injection of laboratory animals, which causes stress and pain. So it would be good to do this in such a way that it causes less stress for the animals.

## Non-aversion handling methods

Much research has already been done on reducing restrainment when picking up a mouse and thus looking at the form of handling to make this less stressful for mice. A distinction is made between (non-)aversive methods. A tunnel and a cup (using hands to form a cup) are two non-aversive handle methods, because mice show less anxiety and seek contact with the handler <sup>23</sup> (also after a subcutaneous injection) <sup>24</sup>. While mice handled with the standard

tail handling show aversive reactions towards the handler. Tail handling is thus regarded as an aversive method, and aversion could be significantly reduced with cup or tunnel handling<sup>24</sup>. Several additional studies claim that mice that are handled with non-aversive methods have less stress in comparison with mice handled by the standard tail handling <sup>23-28</sup>. A study by Gouveia et al. <sup>23</sup> showed that some mice interacted more with a home cage tunnel laying already in the cage, then with an external tunnel between cages, but for other mice there was no difference between these two tunnels <sup>23</sup>. In another research from Gouveia et al. <sup>24</sup> it was found that 2 seconds is enough to familiarise mice with the tunnel handling method. For cup handling also brief but more frequent handling than with a tunnel is needed to familiarise mice. If looking at tail handling strong aversion is shown by infrequent and brief handling <sup>24</sup>. So it becomes clear from these studies that tail handling is strongly related to aversive behavior, while familiarise mice with the tunnel handling method to pick up mice <sup>21</sup>.

## Training to reduce restraining

Since restrainment is another form of handling that can cause stress, finding ways to reduce the need to fully restrain animals can be an additional way to reduce unnecessary stress during procedures. A potential way to achieve this, is via training. Animals, and thus also mice <sup>29</sup>, can be trained to undergo certain actions, such as injections or blood collection, without the frequent use of restraining and thereby having less stress and a better well-being. For example, dogs can be trained to like injections and vaccinations instead of being afraid of them. This can be done with counterconditioning, conditioning is described below, in combination with desensitization. This is mainly done by offering a reward, or things like play and petting, and thereby bringing the animal into a positive state of well-being <sup>30</sup>.

There are also many examples of chimpanzees trained by positive reinforcement to perform routine medical actions, such as injections <sup>31-34</sup>. The training focuses on teaching the animal to stick out the body part in question for an injection, so often they are trained to give an arm. These trained animals have been compared to fully restrained animals, with the latter group showing more aggression and fear <sup>33</sup>. That nonhuman primates can be trained to give an arm has been known for some time and has been used for a while <sup>34</sup>.

Training has also been used in (other) zoo animals. There is research done to train zebras to be able to give an injection without having to use darts. These darts are not only responsible for physical damage, but also trigger a fight or flight response and create a negative bond between the keeper and the animal. While training the zebras ensured that an injection could be made without restraining or darts, which reduced stress and thus improved the welfare of these animals. So training can also be applied to zoo animals to improve their well-being <sup>35</sup>. So training is often used in animals, but little is known about it in mice. Below, the general principles of training will be described and how they will be applied in this research.

## Conditioning

By means of conditioning can animals be trained to do things and in this way an animal can learn new things (for example with training by means of counterconditioning or with positive reinforcement, which are both described above). There are two forms of conditioning, classic conditioning and operant conditioning. The difference would be briefly explained below. Classic conditioning is an unconscious learning method and established a relation between a stimulus and a response. A neutral stimulus is a stimulus that will not by itself lead to a response (for example, a neutral sound). On the other hand is an unconditioned stimulus a stimulus that would lead to an automatic response (for example, a food reward). In classic conditioning, a link/relation is created between the first neutral stimulus and the unconditioned stimulus (with its automatic response), which finally results in using only the neutral stimulus to gain the automatic response. After using this form of learning, the neutral stimulus becomes the conditioned stimulus that induces the automatic response <sup>36,37</sup>. Operant conditioning is a more conscious learning method. Operant behaviour is, defined by Skinner, behaviour that is controlled by means of consequences (of that behavior) in the form of a reward or a punishment, which are negative and positive reinforcers. Operant conditioning uses intermittent reinforcement and reinforcement schedules. A reinforcement schedule contains a reinforcement for an animal with a good described rule. For example, giving a reward, which is a positive reinforcer, for an animal after it exhibits the desired behaviour the researcher wanted the animal to learn. Reinforcement is often food for an animal <sup>38</sup>.

### Reinforcement

So in summary, classic conditioning is based on creating associations, while operant conditioning trains to show the desired behavior (or to reduce unwanted behavior). As mentioned above, animals can be trained with negative or positive punishment (negative punishment: remove a positive stimulus to reduce unwanted behavior, positive punishment: applying a negative stimulus to reduce unwanted behavior) or with negative or positive reinforcement (negative reinforcement: removing a (negative) stimulus to reinforce behavior, positive reinforce behavior, positive reinforce behavior). Several articles have been written about positive and negative reinforcements.

An article about dogs clearly shows that there is a difference in the use of positive and negative reinforcers. It appears that the use of negative reinforcers causes problem behavior and that the dogs listen better when using positive reinforcers. Due to the fact that negative reinforcers cause problem behavior and are therefore a welfare concern, it is recommended to use positive reinforcers<sup>39</sup>.

And a review written by Ziv et. al <sup>40</sup> looked at 17 studies on the effects of different training methods in dogs. Here, too, a distinction is made between aversive methods and non-aversive methods. The aversive method includes negative reinforcement and positive punishment, which can endanger the mental and the physical health of dogs. So it is stated that positive reinforcement should be used when training with animals and that the aversive methods should be used as little as possible <sup>40</sup>.

Positive reinforcement is also used with nonhuman primates. In fact, a study by Fischer et al. <sup>41</sup> mentions that positive reinforcement is used as a gold standard for training these animals for cognitive tasks such as working memory. This article also showed that this method is a powerful technique <sup>41</sup>. As discussed above, there are also many studies with nonhuman primates that use positive reinforcement to teach the animals to receive an injection without using restraining <sup>31-34</sup>. In contrast, among the nonhuman primates there is also an article that says that if time is a limiting factor, negative reinforcement can be a solution <sup>42</sup>. In this study by Wergård et al. <sup>42</sup>, it appears that none of the animals could complete the task trained with positive reinforcement and 10 of the 12 animals trained with negative reinforcement could complete the task within 30 training sessions. There was also no difference in response to

the trainer between the two groups. So this article argues that negative reinforcement can be seen as an alternative training method, especially with limited time <sup>42</sup>.

In both articles about dogs and about nonhuman primates, it is clear that the use of positive reinforcement is recommended, because it ensures a better welfare of the animal. Dogs and nonhuman primates are of course not the same as mice. But it never hurts to work with rewards. And perhaps also with the benefits of positive reinforcement instead of negative reinforcement or punishment and its drawbacks.

## Clickertraining

Both conditioning and positive reinforcement are reflected in clicker training. Classic conditioning is used to link the clicker to the reward, while operant conditioning is used to teach the mice to show the desired behaviour that must be learned.

Clicker training is also a form of training using positive reinforcement by using a bridging stimulus, often the sound of a click (hence the name 'clickertraining'). This bridging stimulus stands between the behaviour and the reward. The bridging stimulus is a conditioned secondary reinforcer and has been proven that the bridging stimulus strengthens that specific desired behaviour. The bridging stimulus can be given directly after the desired behaviour has been done by the animal and thereafter the reward is given, so no time between the behaviour and giving the reinforcement is lost. Because the bridging stimulus can be precisely given at the moment the desired behaviour is carried out, the animal will know what to do and perform this behaviour more frequently.

Research <sup>43</sup> in which rats were taught by clicker training to change cages when cleaning cages shows that the use of clicker training reduces stress in the rats, because there was less need for direct contact with the researcher/handler and the rat during cage cleaning (normally stressful) once the training was complete. It is also stated that clicker training is easy and quick to learn for rats <sup>43</sup>.

Research done by Leidinger et al. <sup>16</sup> shows also that mice learned very quickly (in a week with 5 minutes of practice every day) what the intention was of the clicker protocol and what the researchers were wanting from them. Most of the mice overcame the challenges, for instance following a target stick <sup>16</sup>.

Doing clicker training with mice enabled them to have cognitive enrichment and this can enable mice to use these cognitive skills for solving problems and having control over their environment. This gives the mice an extra way to cope towards the surroundings, finally contributing towards their own well-being. The research also shows that during human-mice interactions, trained mice expressed fewer anxiety-related behaviours (for example, squeaking) than non-trained mice, indicating that training might help reduce fear towards humans. This can also increase the welfare of laboratory mice <sup>16</sup>.

Mice tend to react curiously towards novel objects, so there is no need to use reinforcements to get the mice to investigate new things. This is useful when mice have to touch or stand on something during clicker training and make this maybe a little bit easier <sup>44</sup>.

## Current study

As mentioned in the beginning, handling, restraining and performing actions on laboratory animals is very stressful. So the question arises from the University Utrecht and specific from the department Animal in Science and Society whether a protocol can be set up to use less restraining with mice when handling and during the time a subcutaneous injection is given to ensure that mice have less stress and better well-being. And to see whether training ensures that the animals have a less negative association with the researcher, even after injections, the behavior of the mice towards the researcher is also examined.

Also, if looked further, the result of this study can be used to show students what training does with animals, to reduce stress during the practicals and maybe even motivate students to use training in their studies.

To be able to recognize stress in the mice, it is necessary to know which behaviors can or can not be seen under the influence of stress. The well-known phenomenon of freezing is known to be performed by mice under stress <sup>45,46</sup>. The behaviors defecation <sup>16,47</sup>, urination <sup>16</sup>, vocalization <sup>16</sup>, jumping <sup>48</sup>, stretch attend <sup>49</sup> and escape attempt <sup>50,51</sup> can also increase due to the influence of stress <sup>16,47-51</sup>. The behaviors sniffing and grooming are a bit more complicated. Grooming starts by little stress and can be longer by moderate stress, but can be stopped by high levels of stress that elicit freezing <sup>46,52</sup>. So grooming can be seen as a displacement behavior due to stress. But otherwise is grooming just done by the mouse as maintenance behavior and can have nothing to do with stress <sup>52</sup>. Sniffing can also occur due to stress, but is also exploration behavior and therefore does not always have to be performed under stress <sup>53,54</sup>. The rear is a behavior that occurs less often under stress, but it is also exploratory behavior and can therefore also go in two directions <sup>46,49,55</sup>. Food is also consumed less by mice under stress, so not eating the reward would increase under the influence of stress <sup>45</sup>. In the text will be further referred to behaviors when it comes to these above behaviors upon which stress can have an influence.

Answering the research question is done in this research by creating three groups of mice, one group with naive mice (a naive control group with no exposure to the researcher or the training environment - from here on called the 'naive' group), one group of mice that is the control group (exposed to the researcher, the training environment and the reward, but without receiving any actual training - from here on called the 'control' group) and one group that is trained with clicker training to train the mice to accept a subcutaneous injection in the neck without having to be fully restrained (from here on called the 'trained' group). To get an indication whether this type of training can be a way to reduce stress for mice undergoing a subcutaneous injection after training, and compare it to the behavioural response to a reduce stress for these animals used in teaching, this can maybe be extended even further to use this protocol for better well-being for other laboratory mice too.

## Materials and methods

## Animals

The mice used for this study were 30 female C3H mice (C3H / HeOuJ) born on July 15 in 2020. These animals were used at Utrecht University for teaching students how to handle, restrain and perform injections (subcutaneous and intraperitoneal) on these mice, so their use was for educational purposes. The animals were housed in makrolon type 3 cages with five mice in each cage (six cages in total). The cage had the following dimensions:  $21 \times 37 \times 19 \text{ cm}$  (I x b x h). Inside the cage, the mice had an orange large tube, a cardboard house, tissues and a small transparent tube hanging from the lid (used for the tunnel handling method). The bedding in the cage consisted of woodchips. The cages were changed once every two weeks. Figure 1 shows one of the home cages as an example.



Figure 1. The home cage of the mice from above.

The mice were housed in the Central Laboratory Animal Research Facility (GDL) of Utrecht University in a room that also houses mice from another strain (Balb/c) and Syrian hamsters (all used for teaching). In the common animal laboratory (GDL), the mice had a circadian rhythm of 12 hours light and 12 hours dark, the light turned on at 07:00. The temperature in the home rooms lied around 22 degrees Celcius and the humidity around 65%. The lid contained a food trough with pellets (Rat/Mouse maintenance, 10 mm, batch no 98268044, Ssniff Spezialdiäten GmbH, DE-59494 Soest) in it and a drinking bottle with the opening facing down, so the animals received water and feed ad libitum.

To mark the mice, they were all individually lifted using the tunnel method. Then they emerged from the back of the tube into the cage, where the tail could be restrained. Then each mouse within a cage could be individually marked on the base of their tail (using permanent marker). The marking was repeated once a week, as the markings would fade over time.

Mice were randomly assigned to their treatments using the excel function RAND (). Mice in the training treatment and the control treatment (exposed to the training cage, the experimenter and the rewards, but not trained) were mixed across cages, so the two

treatments were housed together (2-3 animals from each of the two treatments in one cage, a total of 5 animals per cage) in order to control for potential cage effects. Because naive animals (used only at the end of this study, during the final measurements) had to remain completely naive, they were housed in two separate cages and not mixed with the other treatments.

The order in which animals from the trained group were trained, and the order in which control animals were exposed to the training cage and the other stimuli was also randomized across days. This randomization was done with the same function (RAND ()) in excel.

## Methods of habituation, linking and training

The word session is used instead of a day, because the days were not consecutive, but sometimes there was a weekend or a day in between.

All training, linking or habituation sessions were performed in a separate cage of the same size as the home cage and with woodchips as bedding (training cage). The sessions took place in a different room than where the mice were housed and this room was slightly colder, so a heating pad was placed under the training cage. Mice were transported to the training cage using the tunnel handling method involving the transparent plastic tubes (length: 11 cm, diameter: 7.5 cm) that were already present in the mice's home cages (hanging from the cage lid). In the training cage, a self-assembled platform was placed so that the mice were more easily accessible for the injections at the end of the experiment. Figure 2 and 3 show what the training cage looks like, with the platform laying on its side (during the initial habituation phases - see below) and in its final position standing (during the training phases).

The mice from the training group were trained to accept a subcutaneous injection (of saline solution) in the neck without being fully restrained, following the principles of clicker training (so using positive reinforcement) with a bridging stimulus. It was decided to choose a dog whistle as a bridging stimulus, which allows for the trainer to perform procedures (such as injections) with both hands while still being able to use the bridge signal. However, before training could start, the mice were habituated to the experimenter, the training environment, the bridging stimulus and the reward (peanut butter, which the mice already knew from before, as it had been used as a reward after some of the practical lessons for which the animals had been used). The procedures of habituation, linking the bridging stimulus to the reward, and the training protocol are described below.

#### Habituation

The mice that were used already know the use of the tunnel handling method. Because the mice used in this study were also used for practicals to teach students how to restrain the animals, they might have a negative association with hands and being handled by humans (as restraining is a stressful experience <sup>15,16</sup>). The intention of the habituation part of the protocol was therefore that they get used to the training cage and hands, and had a lowered stress response towards researchers and general handling. This was important, because stress might interfere with training, as mentioned in the introduction.

This was built up very slowly. In the first session, the mice were given the opportunity to sniff the hand of the researcher for 1 minute. Then they were transferred with the tunnel handling method to the training cage (all five mice within one cage were transferred consecutively) and back to the home cage. When they were back in the home cage they were offered a little peanut butter (which would eventually also be used as a reward during the training sessions) for one minute.

In the second session, the mice were also moved back and forth using the tunnel handling method, but were marked for individual recognition (when transferred to the training cage) and given a minute before and after being transferred to lick peanut butter off the hand of the researcher in the home cage. Because some mice did not eat the peanut butter from the hand of the researcher, some small tufts of peanut butter were smeared on the wall of the home cage to see if all the mice would eat it, to make sure the peanut butter in itself was not an aversive stimulus.

The mice were introduced to the dog whistle (to be used as the bridging stimulus during training) on the third session. The whistle was blown twice in front of the home cages of the mice to assure that the mice would not be startled by the whistle (which would be shown as mice run away to hide or sit still, freezing). Furthermore, the same was done on this session as the session before (session two). During the last minute peanut butter was given on this third session, it was checked whether everyone eated it from the hand/fingers of the researcher.

The mice must also be habituated to the platform. This was done from the fourth session onwards. The mice were again transported to the training cage. There the platform was laying on one side to make sure the animals could reach the platform and explored it. Figure 2 shows the laying platform.



Figure 2. The platform lying on one side from the side.

They were given two minutes to get used to the platform. Then they got five minutes to eat peanut butter. Hereafter the platform was removed and the whistle was whistled twice to assure the mice would also not be startled by the whistle while in the training cage. Afterwards, the mice were returned to their home cage using the tunnel handling method where they were given the opportunity to eat peanut butter for one minute. The procedure of session 4 was repeated once on session five.

#### Linking

In session six, the next part of this study was continued, where it was aimed to create a link for the mice between the bridging stimulus (hearing the dog whistle) and getting a reward (peanut butter). Habituation also continued during the linking and training sessions, as the linking and training was done in the training cage.

The mice were transported to the training cage, without the platform this time, by means of the tunnel method. Here, the group with trained mice got to hear the whistle and immediately afterwards offered the reward, which was peanut butter. While the control group just got a reward (also peanut butter) every half minute on the first linking session and every quarter of a minute on the second linking session, because the mice in the control group thus received

a reward about as often on average as the animals from the trained group (this was done to make sure that control mice and trained mice had a similar amount of exposure to the training environment, the peanut butter, and the experimenter, to control for these factors, but without further training the control mice). Two sessions were used to link the bridging stimulus (dog whistle) to the reward. On linking session 2 there were animals that waited after the sound of the whistle, waited for the reward and then walked on. It showed that they understood the association between the bridging stimulus and the reward, but there were also animals that did not have this or did not eat peanut butter. At that time it was decided to continue the training, because the linking would go even further there for the trained animals.

#### Training

Described here was the part of the protocol that involves the clicker training with the final result with each training session lasting 5 minutes. There were several levels to be taken in this section to end up giving the mice a subcutaneous injection without restraining. These levels are listed one by one below (see table 1). The level of each animal was noted and they were only trained at a higher level if all criteria of the lower level were met. So it could also be that the animals were at different levels.

The first three sessions of the training, the mice were transferred to the standing platform (figure 3 shows the standing platform) in the training cage using the tunnel handling method and were placed to the left. The group with trained mice got to hear the whistle and immediately afterwards offered the peanut butter. While the control group was offered the peanut butter every quarter of a minute and this remained that way throughout the whole training part. Then they were transported back to their home cage and given 2 minutes to eat peanut butter. This was also done every session after training in every home cage for all the mice. After this, the training continued, because 90% of the mice accepted the reward on the platform and understood the link between the whistle and receiving the reward (the animals were waiting after the sound of the whistle for the reward, ate the reward and then walked on). Table 1 shows that all mice were in level 1 at that moment (so only 10% did not meet the conditions of level 1, but was pulled up a level so that the mice could all be trained further from there).



Figure 3. The platform standing from the side.

From here on (session 4) there was also worked with diluted peanut butter (tap water was added to make the peanut butter thinner and less sticky), because some mice sometimes took too much of the reward and subsequently showed choking symptoms. Diluting the peanut butter did not affect the mice's eagerness to take the reward.

To got the mice to progress from level 1 to level 2 (see table 1), the animals had to stand on the right side of the platform (as the experimenter was right handed, injecting the mice was done from the right) and had to take the reward frequently (20/30 times) on that side. So the following levels were for the mice that took the reward often (around 20-30 times) on the right side of the platform and thus had reached level 2. Each subsequent level was passed if the conditions could be met, for example: level 4 was achieved if the researcher could stroke the mouse. And this went up to level 7, where the mouse could be injected. It was possible that each mouse was at a different level and therefore should receive a different treatment at the same time at this point in the training, because one mouse learned faster than the others.

<u>Levels</u>	Description	<u>Conditions</u>
Level 1	The mouse is standing on the platform and accepts the reward after hearing the whistle.	- Eating the reward
Level 2	The mouse is standing/facing to the right side of the platform and accepts the reward after hearing the whistle.	<ul> <li>Eating the reward frequently (20/30 times)</li> <li>Standing/facing right</li> </ul>
Level 3	The mouse stands to the right side of the platform and the researcher is able to hold his hand above the head of the mouse (the mouse does not turn away or walk back and remains standing to the right); the mouse accepts the reward after hearing the whistle.	<ul> <li>Eating reward</li> <li>Standing/facing right</li> <li>Hand above head</li> <li>Standing still</li> </ul>
Level 4	The mouse stands to the right side of the platform and the researcher is able to stroke the mouse, while the mouse is sitting still; the mouse accepts the reward after hearing the whistle	<ul> <li>Eating reward</li> <li>Standing/facing right</li> <li>Stroking</li> <li>Standing still</li> </ul>
Level 5	The mouse stands to the right side of the platform, accepts the reward after hearing the whistle and the researcher is able to grab a fold in the neck, while the mouse is eating the reward.	<ul> <li>Eating reward</li> <li>Standing/facing right</li> <li>Fold in neck</li> <li>Standing still</li> </ul>
Level 6	The mouse stands to the right side of the platform, accepts the reward after hearing the whistle and the researcher is able to grab a fold in the neck and hold a syringe (with cap on) against the fold of the neck.	<ul> <li>Standing/facing right</li> <li>Fold in neck</li> <li>Syringe against fold</li> <li>Standing still</li> </ul>
Level 7	The mouse stands to the right side of the platform, accepts the reward after hearing the whistle and the researcher is able to inject.	<ul> <li>Standing/facing right</li> <li>Fold in neck</li> <li>Injection</li> <li>Standing still</li> </ul>

Table 1. Different training levels and their description.

## Injections ('last measurement')

After finishing and reaching the final level, the trained animals were injected, along with an equal number of control and naive animals for comparison. The animals were injected in the

fold of the neck with NaCl 0.9% using 1 ml syringes and 30 G needles. All animals except one were injected following the same procedure - by picking up the fold of the neck using index finger and thumb, while the animal was still sitting on the platform and without fully restraining the animal and picking it up. As is described, in only one animal (individual 45A03, which belonged to the control group) it was not possible to pick up a fold in the neck, because the animal kept withdrawing. So it was necessary to fully restrain this animal. The course of this last measurement looked slightly different than a normal training session. During the last measurement, the animal was placed on the platform as usual. For the trained animals, the animal was injected when a syringe would be placed against the fold of the neck in the previous level, for the control animals an attempt was made to pick up a fold in the neck when they were standing on the right side of the platform and ate the reward and for the naive animals an attempt was made to pick up a fold in the neck if they were on the right side of the platform. After the injection was given, the examiner would place his hand on the platform for one minute. After that time, training was resumed for the trained animals to train them to stand on the right side of the platform and the naive and control animals were offered a reward every quarter minute. In total, this last measurement also took 5 minutes, just like a training session.

### Measurements

To measure the effect of the clicker training, the time that it took for the trained mice to walk to the right side of the platform was tracked in each training session from session 6 onwards, using a stopwatch and a voice recorder. The time spent on the right side of the platform (measured during specific sessions, see table 2 for more details), the behaviors (such as 'grooming', 'sniffing , see ethogram - these behaviours were only measured at the beginning of the training period - 'first measurement', and at the end, after the final injections - 'last measurement' - see table 2 for more details) and the contact seeking behaviors (see ethogram - these behaviours were only measured at the final injections - 'last measurement' - see table 2 for more details), were recorded using a webcam connected to a laptop (see figure 4). The behavior of the mice could then be scored afterwards, using Solomon Coder, version 19.08.02 as a scoring program <sup>56</sup>. See below for more details.



Figure 4. The setup used for filming in this study.

<u>Parameter</u>	Session/measurement	How many animals were
		<u>measured per treatment</u>

The time the mice take to	Session 6	Trained animals: 10
side of the platform	Session 7	Trained animals: 8
	Session 8 - 19	Trained animals: 10
	Session 20 - 24 (depending on when animals reached level 7)	Trained animals: 7
The time the mice stand to the right side of the platform	Session 7	Trained animals: 8 Control animals: 7
P	Session 8	Trained animals: 2 Controle animals: 3
	Session 9, 13, 16	Trained animals: 10 Control animals: 10
	Session 19 ('last measurement')	Trained animals: 3 (one not filmed) Control animals: 3 Naive animals: 3
	Session 20	Trained animals: 7 Control animals: 7
	Session 24 ('last measurement' or last training session)	Trained animals: 7 Control animals: 7 Naive animals: 5
Detailed behavioral scoring, contact seeking excluded	Session 7 ('first measurement')	Trained animals: 8 Control animals: 7
	Session 8 ('first measurement')	Trained animals: 2 Controle animals: 3
	Session 19 ('last measurement')	Trained animals: 3 (one not filmed) Control animals: 3 Naive animals: 3
	Session 24 ('last measurement')	Trained animals: 5 Control animals: 5 Naive animals: 5
Contact seeking behaviors	Session 19 ('last measurement')	Trained animals: 3 (one not filmed) Control animals: 3 Naive animals: 3
	Session 24 ('last measurement')	Trained animals: 5 Control animals: 5 Naive animals: 5

## Table 2. The number of animals per treatment that are measured for a parameter in each session or measurement.

There were a number of sub-questions that were important in this study to answer the research question. Repeating this question briefly: "Can mice be trained to give them an injection without being fully restrained, and whether this ultimately results in less stress and therefore better well-being for the mice, and in a less negative association towards the researcher ". This will be broken down below in four different parameters, which were used to answer the research question and the results of the sub-questions will be listed one by one in the section Results.

#### The time it takes for mice to stand on the right side of the platform

Since the trained mice were trained to go to the right side of the platform, it was hypothesised that these mice would continue to move to the right side of the platform faster with each training session. Standing on the right side of the platform was counted when the mouse was standing with its head to the right side of the platform or was standing on the right part of the platform with its head to the right side of the platform, so if they were oriented to the right side of the platform.

The animals were always placed on the platform in the same way, by letting them come out of the tube on the left. As soon as they were out of the tube, it was recorded how long it took the trained mice to stand on the right side of the platform (using a voice recorder). The mice were recorded from session 6 onwards until the last measurement (when the animals received their injection, or simply until their last training session for the three trained animals that did not reach level 7 and therefore did not proceed to the injection phase).

#### The time the mice are on the right side of the platform

The same applies as above: since the trained mice were trained to go to the right side of the platform, there was hypothesised that these mice would stay on the right side of the platform for a longer amount of time per training session with each consecutive session. In addition, it was expected that over time they would learn to stay on the right side of the platform for longer than the control and naive animals.

#### The number of times the mice exhibited behaviors

Since the trained mice were trained to receive an injection in a manner in which full restraint would not be necessary, there was hypothesised that these mice would show less or more of the behaviors (as described in the introduction depending on the behavior) between the first and last measurement, and that they would show less or more of the behaviors during the last measurement than the control and naive animals.

#### The number of times / the time the mice seek contact with the

#### researcher

Since the trained mice were trained to receive an injection in a manner in which full restraint would not be necessary, there was hypothesised that these mice would seek more contact with the researcher in the minute after injection during the last measurement than the control and naive animals, as the experience would likely be less stressful for them and aversion towards the handler should be reduced, when compared to control or naive animals.

#### Scoring behaviors

The number of times the mice stood to the right side on the platform was peated with the program solomon, but also the time to the left side of the platform, the time when there was nothing to see (hand for the camera), the total time on the platform and the percentage of the total time on the right side of the platform. This was filmed every Tuesday and on the last measurement.

The number of times the mice exhibited behaviors was peated with the program solomon. The ethogram below (see table 3) shows which behaviors were counted during the first and last measurement (already described in the introduction).

The number of times / the time the mice sought contact with the researcher was peated with the program solomon. This was done by placing the investigator's hand on the platform for 60 seconds after giving the injection and allowing the interaction between investigator and mouse to be observed. The ethogram below (table 3) shows which behaviors were registered. It was also tracked how often the mice retracted and how long it took before the mice could be injected (could be seen if the researcher's hand wanted to start taking the mouse) before the injection was given, because picking up a fold was also done by the naive and control animals which were not trained for this in comparison to the trained animals. These seeking contact behaviors with the researcher were only peated during the last measurement and were compared between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals).

Table 2 indicates exactly when what was measured.

Ethogram
----------

Behavior categories	<u>Behavior</u>	Expression of the behavior
Detailed behavioral scoring, contact seeking excluded		
	Freezing	Sitting still, not eating the reward and almost no movement of limbs or head
	Grooming/hair coat	Washing with front legs

	Sniffing platform	Nose on platform	
	Rear	Stand on the hind legs	
Not visibly happened	Urinating	Pee	
	Defecation	Defecate	
Not happened	Vocalisation	Squeak	
	No feed intake	Not assuming the reward, while it is being offered	
Not happened	Jumping	Jump up	
	Escape attempt	Lean over the edge of the platform and have its head down	

	Stretch attend	Mouse makes itself very tall and has its head stretched out forward	
Contact seeking with researcher			
	Sniffle at 0,5 cm of the hand	With nose	
	Put a paw on the hand	With paw	
	Touch the hand	With nose or body (not paw)	
	Jump on the hand	With the whole body	

Eating the reward	Eating the reward of the finger of the researcher's hand
Pull back	Resisting to be injected and start pulling away
Time before the mice can be injected	Starting from the moment the researcher's hand wants to start taking the mouse

Table 3. Ethogram of all stress and contact-seeking related behaviors.

## Statistics

All statistical analyses done in this study were done using R-studio 4.0.3 <sup>57</sup>. Linear mixed models were done using the Ime4 package <sup>58</sup>. Some of the graphs were made using the ggplot2 package of R-studio <sup>59</sup>.

Prior to executing models, all data was checked to see whether the data was normally distributed by means of a histogram and Shapiro-Wilk Test. If this was not the case, a log transformation or sqrt transformation attempted to get the data distributed normally. And whether adjustments of data were needed is described with the results. If it was not possible to get the data distributed normally, then non-parametric statistics were used on this data. If it was possible to get the data distributed normally, statistical tests were continued and the model residuals were always checked for normality using QQ-plots and histograms. Which tests were used on the data is described below.

For the time it took for the mice to stand directly on the right side of the platform (the first parameter) a linear mixed model was used to analyse whether the behaviour of the mice changed across sessions. Where the time (in seconds) (the behaviour) was the dependent variable, the factor sessions was the independent variable and mouse ID was included as a random factor (to control for repeated measures). This parameter was only measured in trained animals.

For the time the mice were on the right side of the platform and for the behaviors 'sniffing the platform', 'defecating', 'escape attempt' and 'stretch attend', linear mixed models were used to analyse whether the behaviour of the mice changed over time (across sessions in the case of time spent on the right of the platform, first versus last measurement in the case of

the other behavioral parameters), whether the behaviour differed between trained animals and control animals, and whether the changes in behaviour across sessions or between measurements depended on the treatment that the mice had received. In the models, the behaviour (for example, percentage of time spent on the right side of the platform or defecating) was the dependent variable and treatment, session/measurement and their interaction (treatment\*session/measurement) were independent variables. Mouse ID was again included as a random factor (to control for repeated measures). If the models showed no interaction, the model was run again without the interaction to look at the individual effects of session/measurement and treatments.

There was also made use of two Post hoc tests (linear mixed models) for the time the mice are on the right side of the platform to be able to look separately at the sessions per treatment (separate models for control and trained animals) and whether there was a line in it, because there was a trend for interaction in this parameter. This was done by creating different datasets in Rstudio to separate the control and trained animals, where the independent variable was the sessions and with the percentage time as dependent variable. The Bonferroni correction was also used here to correct the critical level of alfa (Bonferroni corrected p-value) =  $\frac{\alpha (original p-value)}{n (number of tests performed)} = \frac{0.05}{2} = 0.025$ ).

For the behaviors 'freezing', 'grooming' and 'rear' four non-parametric Wilcoxon tests were used, because the data was not distributed normally. For each of these behaviors a separate datasheet had been created. In which the difference in behavior between the first and last measurement was calculated (behavior last measurement - behavior first measurement) and named as behavior difference, which, as with the linear models above, was used to analyse whether the behaviour differed between measurements (the difference in behavior was tested against mu = 0), whether the changes in behaviour across sessions depended on the treatment that the mice had received (with the difference in behavior as the dependent variable and treatment as factor) and whether the behaviour within each session differed between the trained animals and the control animals was analysed using the data from each session separately (with the behavior as dependent variable, treatment as factor). The Bonferroni correction was also used here to correct the critical level of alfa (Bonferroni corrected p-value =  $\frac{a (original p-value)}{n (number of tests performed)} = \frac{0.05}{4} = 0.013$ ).

During the last measurement, when animals received their injections, additional comparisons were made between the behavior of trained animals, control animals and naive animals. Here for the time the mice are on the right side of the platform, for the behaviors 'sniffing the platform', 'defecating', 'escape attempt' and 'stretch attend' and the contact seeking behaviors 'sniffle at 0.5 cm of the hand', 'touch the hand', 'total time on hand researcher', 'total time seeking contact with researcher' and finally the time it takes before injection a One Way ANOVA was used to analyse whether the behaviour differed between trained, control and naive animals. In the models, the behaviour (for example, percentage of time spent on the right side of the platform or defecating) was the dependent variable and treatment was the independent variable. If an effect of treatment emerged, Post hoc t-tests were used to identify between which treatments there was a significant difference (behavior as dependent variable and treatment as independent variable). The Bonferroni correction was also used here to correct the critical level of alfa (Bonferroni corrected p-value =  $\frac{\alpha (original p-value)}{n (number of tests performed)} = 0.007$ 

#### $\frac{0.05}{3} = 0.017$ ).

For the behaviors 'freezing', 'grooming' and 'rear' and for the contact seeking behaviors 'jump on the hand', 'put paw on the hand', 'eating the reward' and 'pull back' non-parametric

Kruskal–Wallis tests (data was not distributed normally) were used to analyse whether the behaviour differed between trained, control and naive animals. In the models, the behavior (for example, freezing or pull back) was the dependent variable and treatment was the independent variable. If an effect of treatment emerged, Post hoc Wilcoxon tests were used to identify between which treatments there was a significant difference (behavior as dependent variable and treatment as independent variable). The Bonferroni correction was also used here to correct the critical level of alfa (Bonferroni corrected p-value =  $\frac{\alpha (original \, p-value)}{n (number of \ tests \ performed)} = \frac{0.05}{3} = 0.017).$ 

No statistics had been done on the behaviors 'vocalisation', 'urinating' and 'jumping', because these behaviors did not occur.

Also, no statistics on the behavior 'no feed intake' (see ethogram) had been done, because it could not be kept track of how often the reward was offered during the first and last measurement due to the time limit. As a result of which the outcome of this behavior would have little meaning.

## Missing data / results

The first measurement was filmed one session (session 8 instead of 7) later for 5 animals (of which two animals belonged to the trained group and three to the control group) from one cage (2A14), because those animals had been caught and trained incorrectly (treated the trained animals from that group as control animals and the control animals were trained) in the previous session (session 7) and so it was decided to train them properly and then record them in the session afterwards (session 8). It has not been investigated whether this affected these animals because it was so early in the training.

During the last measurement, filming failed for one mouse (individual 35A03, see table 2), which belonged to the trained group. Therefore no data for that mouse is known from the last measurement.

There is also no data on defecation for some mice (individuals 15A03, 25A03, 45A03, 24, 34 and 54A) during the last measurement. These were simply forgotten to count with those animals.

Also, some animals did not reach the final level of training and therefore did not proceed to the last measurements. Because there were tested equal numbers of animals from each treatment group at the last measurement, this means some animals from the control group and the naive group were also excluded from the last measurement. From each of the three treatments two animals were not included (so a total of six animals).

There had also been one mouse (individual 42A18, which belonged to the trained group) where filming during session 24 did not go well and only the last 3 minutes were filmed. Only the percentage on the right side of the platform is included from this mouse, because this mouse did not reach the last measurement and only the last 3 minutes were scored for this animal (behavior and contact seeking behavior is therefore not peated by this individual).

## Results

The results of the statistical tests are presented including transformations if necessary. The graphs are a representation of the raw data.

## The time it takes for trained mice to move directly to the right side of the platform

A log transformation (Ln) was needed to get the data distributed normally.

A significant difference was found between sessions ( $F_{(18, 145.08)} = 1.800$ , p = 0.030). Namely, there was a significant difference between session 6 and 8 ( $t_{(144.728)} = 2.589$ , p = 0.011), 6 and 9 ( $t_{(144.728)} = 2.797$ , p = 0.006) and 6 and 13 ( $t_{(144.728)} = 2.252$ , p = 0.026). This can also be seen in figure 5, where there are peaks at session 8,9 and 13.



The time it takes for the mice to stand on the right side of the platform

Figure 5. The time it takes for the trained mice to stand directly or for the first time to the right side of the platform every session. With the broken black dotted line the mean of the trained animals and the blue color around it the mean variations. And all loose blue dashed lines are trained individuals.

## The percentage of total session time the mice stand on the right side of the platform

#### Differences between trained and control animals across sessions

The raw data is distributed normally, so no adjustment was needed. There was a trend for an interaction between session and treatment ( $F_{(6,69,432)} = 2.107$ , p = 0.063). With the Post hoc tests (the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.025 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) a significant effect of session was found for the control animals ( $F_{(6, 35.025)} = 3.196$ , p = 0.013) as well as for the trained animals ( $F_{(6, 34.434)} = 6.666$ , p < 0.001). The control animals stayed around 50% of the time to the right side of the platform with an outlier in one session providing the significant effect. By the trained animals there were multiple sessions where the animals sat longer on the right side of the platform, but there was no upward trend.

Once the interaction was removed from the model, a significant main effect of both treatment: trained mice spent on average 14% of the total session time more on the right side of the platform than control mice ( $F_{(1, 16.870)} = 38.517$ , p < 0.001) and session ( $F_{(6, 75.594)} = 6.757$ , p < 0.001) was found. Namely, there was a significant difference between session 7 and 9 ( $t_{(73.858)} = 4.712$ , p < 0.001). All these effects, both with and without interaction, are shown in figure 6.





Figure 6. The percentage of the total time the mice stand on the right side of the platform in the five minutes of training between the two treatments over the sessions. With the broken black dotted line the mean of the trained animals and the blue color around it the mean variations. The same applies to the control animals, but with a solid line and the red color around it. And all loose red solid lines are control individuals and all loose blue dashed lines are trained individuals.

## Differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last

#### measurement

During the last measurement, where the animals received a subcutaneous injection in the neck, there was no significant difference found between the trained, control and naive animals in the percentage of time they spend on the right side of the platform ( $F_{(2, 20)} = 1.478$ , p = 0.252). This can also be seen in figure 7.

The percentage of the total time the mice stand on the right side of the platform



Figure 7. The percentage of the total time the mice stand on the right side of the platform in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

#### The number of times the mice exhibited behaviors

Freezing; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction

There was no significant difference in the number of times the mice were freezing between the first and last measurement (Z = 39.5, p = 0.050, while the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.013 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) and treatment had no effect on the change in freezing behaviour between the first and the last measurement either (Z = 31.5, p = 0.719). And there was also no significant difference of freezing between the two treatments (Z = 48, p = 0.871 and Z = 32, p = 0.673). This is also reflected in figure 8.



Figure 8. The number of times the mice freeze in the five minutes of training between the two treatments in the first and last measurement.

## Grooming; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction

There was no significant difference in the number of times the mice were grooming between the first and last measurement (Z = 13.5, p = 0.048, while the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.013 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) and treatment had no effect on the change in grooming behaviour between the first and the last measurement either (Z = 28.5, p = 1). And there was also no significant difference of grooming between the two treatments (Z = 53.5, p = 0.818 and Z = 31, p = 0.769). Figure 9 confirms this once again.



Figure 9. The number of times the mice groom in the five minutes of training between the two treatments in the first and last measurement.

## Rear; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction

There was no significant difference in the number of times the mice performed the rear between the first and last measurement (Z = 11.5, p = 0.034, while the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.013 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) and treatment had no effect on the change in rear behaviour between the first and the last measurement either (Z = 25, p = 0.771). And there was also no significant difference in performing the rear between the two treatments (Z = 66, p = 0.235 and Z = 29, p = 0.948). This is also shown in figure 10.





Figure 10. The number of times the mice rear in the five minutes of training between the two treatments in the first and last measurement.

Sniffing the platform; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction For the number of times the mice sniffed the platform, normality of the data could be achieved using a log transformation (Ln(number of times sniffing the platform +1)). Subsequent tests showed that there was no interaction between treatment and measurement ( $F_{(1, 31)} < 0.001$ , p = 0.991). Overall the mice sniffed significantly more (on average 7.78 times more) during the last measurement compared to the first measurement ( $F_{(1, 32)} = 12.270$ , p = 0.001, see figure 11), but there was no significant differences between trained and control mice ( $F_{(1, 32)} = 1.371$ , p = 0.250).



Figure 11. The number of times the mice is sniffing the platform in the five minutes of training between the two treatments in the first and last measurement.

#### Defecation; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction

For the number of times the mice defecated, normality of the data could be achieved using a log transformation (Ln(number of times defecation +1)).

Subsequent analysis indicated that there was no interaction between treatment and measurement ( $F_{(1, 9.022)}$  = 2.306, p = 0.163). Overall, mice defecated more (on average 0.95 times more) during the last measurement compared to the first measurement ( $F_{(1, 9.638)}$  = 7.791, p = 0.020) and trained mice defecated more (on average 1.06 times more) than control mice ( $F_{(1, 9.732)}$  = 6.472, p = 0.030). Which can both be seen in figure 12.



Figure 12. The number of times the mice defecate in the five minutes of training between the two treatments in the first and last measurement.

#### Escape attempt; differences between trained and control animals, the

first and the last measurement, and their interaction

The escape attempt data is distributed normally, so no adjustment was needed. There was no interaction between treatment and measurement ( $F_{(1, 16.569)} = 0.097$ , p = 0.760). Overall, mice were trying to escape less (on average 11.85 times less) during the last measurement compared to the first measurement ( $F_{(1, 17.560)} = 13.491$ , p = 0.002) and trained mice were trying to escape less (on average 10.76 times less) than control mice ( $F_{(1, 17.161)} =$ 9.487, p = 0.007). Which can both be seen in figure 13.



Figure 13. The number of times the mice are trying to get off the platform (escape attempt) in the five minutes of training between the two treatments in the first and last measurement.

Stretch attend; differences between trained and control animals, the first and the last measurement, and their interaction

The stretch attend data is distributed normally, so no adjustment was needed.

There was no interaction between treatment and measurement ( $F_{(1, 31)} = 0.003$ , p = 0.955). There was no significant difference between the first and the last measurement ( $F_{(1, 17, 155)} =$ 



2.464, p = 0.135) and there was no significant difference between treatment, trained and control mice ( $F_{(1, 16.355)} = 0.363$ , p = 0.555). Which is confirmed in figure 14.

Figure 14. The number of times the mice showed stretch attend in the five minutes of training between the two treatments in the first and last measurement.

Freezing; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice were freezing between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $\chi^2_{(2)}$  = 0.865, p = 0.649, while the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods). This is also reflected in figure 15.



The number of times the mice freeze

Figure 15. The number of times the mice freeze in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Grooming; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice were grooming between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $\chi^2_{(2)}$  = 0.546, p = 0.761, while the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods). This is also reflected in figure 16.

#### The number of times the mice groom



Figure 16. The number of times the mice groom in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Rear; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the

#### last measurement

There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice rear between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $\chi^2_{(2)} = 0.119$ , p = 0.942, while the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods). This is also reflected in figure 17.



The number of times the mice rear

Figure 17. The number of times the mice rear in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

## Sniffing the platform; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

For the number of times the mice sniffed the platform, normality of the data could be achieved using a log transformation (Ln(number of times sniffing the platform +1)). There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice sniffled the platform between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)}$  = 2.207, p = 0.136). This can also be seen in figure 18.





Figure 18. The number of times the mice is sniffing the platform in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

#### Defecation; differences between trained, control and naive animals

#### during the last measurement

For the number of times the mice defecated, normality of the data could be achieved using a log transformation (Ln(number of times defecation +1)).

There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice defecated between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 14)} = 0.276$ , p = 0.763). This can also be seen in figure 19.

The number of times the mice defecate



Figure 19. The number of times the mice defecate in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Escape attempt; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

The escape attempt data is distributed normally, so no adjustment was needed. There was a trend found in the number of times the mice were trying to escape the platform between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)}$  = 3,256, p = 0.060). But with the post hoc tests (the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods), there were no significant differences between naive and trained mice (t (12.207) = 2.087, p = 0.058), naive and control mice (t  $_{(7.842)}$  = 0.594, p = 0.569) and control and trained mice (t  $_{(7.437)}$  = 2.594, p = 0.034). This is made visible in figure 20.



The number of times the mice are trying to get off the platform

Figure 20. The number of times the mice are trying to get off the platform (escape attempt) in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Stretch attend; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

The stretch attend data is distributed normally, so no adjustment was needed. There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice showed stretch attend between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)} = 0.260$ , p = 0.773). This can also be seen in figure 21.

The number of times that the mice showed stretch attend in their posture



Figure 21. The number of times the mice showed stretch attend in the five minutes of training between the three treatments during the last measurement.

## The number of times / the time the mice seek contact with the researcher

Sniffle at 0.5 cm of the hand; differences between trained, control and

naive animals during the last measurement

For the number of times the mice sniffled at 0.5 cm of the hand of the researcher, normality of the data could be achieved using a log transformation (Ln(number of times sniffle at 0.5 cm of the hand +1)).

There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice sniffled at 0.5 cm of the hand of the researcher between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)} = 0.160$ , p = 0.853). This can also be seen in figure 22.



Figure 22. The number of times the mice sniffle at 0.5 cm distance of the hand of the researcher in one minute after injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Put a paw on the hand; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice put a paw on the hand of the researcher between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $\chi^2_{(2)}$  = 1.047, p = 0.592). This is also reflected in figure 23.

The number of times the mice put a paw on the hand of the researcher



Figure 23. The number of times the mice put a paw on the hand of the researcher in one minute after injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Touch the hand; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

For the number of times the mice touched the hand of the researcher, normality of the data could be achieved using a sqrt transformation (sqrt(number of times touch the hand +1)). There was a significant difference found in the number of times the mice touched the hand of the researcher between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)} = 6.032$ , p = 0.009). Post hoc tests (the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) showed that overall, the trained mice touched the hand of the researcher more (on average 4.70 times more) compared to the naive mice during the last measurement ( $t_{(11.825)} = -3.198$ , p = 0.008), which is seen in figure 24. But there was no significant difference found between naive and control mice ( $t_{(11.365)} = -2.045$ , p = 0.065) and control and trained mice ( $t_{(12.553)} = -1.643$ , p = 0.125). The number of times the mice touch the hand of the researcher



Figure 24. The number of times the mice touch the hand of the researcher in one minute after injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Jump on the hand; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

There was no significant difference found in the number of times the mice jumped on the hand of the researcher between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $\chi^2_{(2)}$  = 2.477, p = 0.290). This is also reflected in figure 25.



#### The number of times the mice jump on the hand of the researcher

Figure 25. The number of times the mice jump on the hand of the researcher in one minute after injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

## Eating the reward; differences between trained, control and naive

#### animals during the last measurement

There was a significant difference found in the number of times the mice were eating the reward between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $\chi^2_{(2)}$  = 10.81, p = 0.004). Post hoc tests (the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) showed that overall, the control mice were eating the reward more (on average 1.25 times more) compared to the naive mice during the last measurement (Z = 12, p = 0.013) and also the trained mice were eating the reward more (on average 2.43 times more) compared to the naive mice during the last measurement (Z = 4, p = 0.002), which both are also seen in figure 26. But there was no significant difference found between control and trained mice (Z = 17.5, p = 0.236).



The number of times the mice eat the reward from the hand of the researcher

Figure 26. The number of times the mice eat the reward from the hand of the researcher in one minute after injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Total time the mice are on the hand; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

For the total time the mice were on the hand of the researcher, normality of the data could be achieved using a sqrt transformation (sqrt(total time the mice are on the hand +1)).

There was no significant difference found in the total time the mice were on the hand of the researcher between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)} = 0.097$ , p = 0.908). This is also shown in figure 27.



Figure 27. The total time the mice were on the hand of the researcher in one minute after injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Total time the mice seek contact; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

For the total time the mice seek contact with the researcher, normality of the data could be achieved using a sqrt transformation (sqrt(total time the mice seek contact +1)).

There was no significant difference found in the total time the mice sought contact with the researcher between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)}$  = 1.473, p = 0.253). This is also shown in figure 28.



Figure 28. The total time the mice seek contact with the researcher in one minute after injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Pull back; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement

There was a significant difference found in the number of times the mice pulled back between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $\chi^2_{(2)} = 7.711$ , p = 0.021). Post hoc tests (the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) showed that overall, the trained animals pull back less (on average 1.96 times less) compared to the control animals (Z = 48.5, p = 0.015), which is also seen in figure 29. But there was no significant difference found between the naive and control mice (Z = 40.5, p = 0.396) and between the naive and trained mice (Z = 47, p = 0.024).



The number of times the mice pull back/resist to sit still for injection

Figure 29. The number of times the mice pull back or resist to sit still before injection between the three treatments during the last measurement.

Time it takes for the mice to be injected; differences between trained, control and naive animals during the last measurement For the time it takes for the mice to be injected, normality of the data could be achieved using a log transformation (Ln(time it takes for the mice to be injected +1)). There was a significant difference found in the time it takes for the mice to be injected between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement ( $F_{(2, 20)} = 4.480$ , p = 0.025). Post hoc tests (the critical level of alpha in this case was 0.017 due to the bonferroni correction - see methods) showed that overall, the trained animals need less time (on average 29.2 secondes less) to be injected compared to naive animals (t<sub>(12.869)</sub> = 3.140, p = 0.008), which is also shown in figure 30. But there were no significant differences between naive and control animals (t<sub>(13.857)</sub> = 1.281, p = 0.221) and between control and trained mice (t<sub>(13)</sub> = 1.712, p = 0.111).

38

#### Total time it takes for the mice to be injected



Figure 30. The total time it takes for the mice to be injected between the three treatments during the last measurement.

The data sheets will be enclosed as an attachment, so that they can be viewed.

## Discussion

### Results

This study was conducted to investigate whether mice could be trained to receive an injection without the use of restraining, which could ultimately reduce stress and improve the welfare of laboratory mice, and could also ensure a less negative association toward the researcher. As described above, this research question was answered by means of four parameters. Here the results will be discussed.

#### Training to go to the right side of the platform

By means of clicker training the mice were trained to stand to the right side of the platform in the training cage, to stay still while the researcher took the fold of the neck, and placed a subcutaneous injection in the fold of the neck.

The time it takes for the mice to stand directly to the right side of the platform The first parameter was the time it took for the trained mice to go directly to the right side of the platform (from session 6 to session 19/24) and this could say something about the effect of the clicker training: if the training was successful, the mice would be expected to move to the right side of the platform faster with each consecutive training session <sup>16</sup>.

As described in the results, there was a significant difference between sessions in the time it took the trained mice to go to the right side of the platform. However, this change in the latency for the animals to go to the right side of the platform did not follow the expected direction: differences were only found between session 6 and session 8.9 and 13, where the animals spent more time reaching the right side of the platform on the latter sessions. And also when looked closer at the data, every independent session the data went back and forth independently and without a downwards trend across the sessions, while that was expected in advance, should the training be successful. It is therefore unlikely that the differences between sessions were a result of training. The fact that there was no trend in the data did not follow the expected pattern shows that the clicker training had likely not been effective in teaching mice to orient directly towards the right side of the platform. This makes it clear that the mice were not trained for the time at which they move to the right side of the platform. The reason why the mice were not trained to stand directly to the right side of the platform may be because the mice had just been put on the platform and they were stressed, so the first time could always take longer because they had to get used to it again. Or because the mice were blind, so they may not have realized what was the left side of the platform and what was the right side of the platform. Another reason could be that the noise of the bridging stimulus (a dog whistle, which made a loud noise) was also heard in the room where the mice were housed, so that the association that was made in the training disappeared / extincted, because no reward was followed there <sup>60</sup>. This last reason can be solved in the future by providing a soundproof room. These are all hypothetical explanations however, and the real answer is not known.

It is unclear what exactly caused the variation in responses between the different sessions, but something that may have played a role was the changing of the cages. For example, on days after a cage change, animals might have been more stressed at the start of a training session <sup>61</sup> and therefore performed less well <sup>21</sup>. It had not been checked on which days the

cages of the animals were changed and this is something that could be done in the future to explain or rule out such differences.

So overall it is clear that in this study, clicker training has had no effect on how quickly mice moved to the right side of the platform across sessions.

#### Percentage of time the mice are on the right side of the platform

The second parameter measured was the percentage of the total session time the mice stood on the right side of the platform, as this could also say something about the effect of the clicker training: if the training was successful, trained mice would be expected to stand to the right side of the platform for a longer time with each consecutive training session (session 7/8, session 9, session 13, session 16, session 19, session 20, session 24), and eventually spent more time on the right side of the platform than untrained control animals<sup>16</sup>. There was no interaction between the sessions and the treatment, meaning that the development of how long mice spent on the right side of the platform was not affected by treatment (training versus control), but there were overall significant differences between sessions and treatments.

Trained mice on average spent more time on the right side of the platform than control mice. The overall effect of session was caused by the fact that, during session 9, mice suddenly stood much more to the right side of the platform than on session 7, while in other sessions, this difference was not there anymore. But when looking at the data, there was a lot of variation in time spent on the right side of the platform with every session, ant there was no clear upward trend for this behavior across the sessions for trained animals, while here too it was expected that training should cause the mice to show more of the desired behavior (to stand to the right side of the platform) over time. The variation in behavior across sessions might have been caused by different factors. For example, offering the reward often varied in duration, and the amount of peanut butter offered was not standardized, affecting the time it would take the mice to eat the reward. Mice likely spent more or less time on a spot. depending on how long a reward was offered, or how much of it was offered - even when not eating the reward, investigating the hand of the experimenter might cause mice to stay at a certain spot for the time the reward was offered. It had also been noted that the mice were more often on the side where the researcher himself stood. And there were differences in accepting the reward, because one cage with animals (2A18) accepted much less reward than the other cages from the beginning and therefore stood less to the right side of the platform, while animals that ate the peanut butter well stood much to the right side of the platform. In addition, as with the latency to go to the right side of the platform, on days after cages had been changed, the behavior of the mice might have differed, and hearing the noise of the bridging stimulus outside of the training cage (while standing in the adjacent room before or after training) might have caused the sound of the whistle to not be clearly linked to the reward for the animals. As there was no upward trend in standing on the right side of the platform, it is questionable whether the mice were aware that they had to stand on the right side of the platform, again indicating that the training protocol used in this study might not have been effective for that part.

Finally, a statistical test was also done to see how much percentage of the time the mice were on the right side of the platform between the three treatment groups (naive, control and trained mice) during the last measurement (session 19/24). It was previously expected that the trained mice would stand on the right side of the platform the longest, while the naive and control animals would stand on the right side of the platform about 50% of the time <sup>16</sup>.

There was no significant difference found between the treatments, while this would be expected because the trained animals were trained with the clicker training to stand on the right side of the platform. One reason why this happened less during the last measurement may be because the mice then received an injection and during one minute after the injection the hand of the researcher was laying on the platform. So the last measurement looked very different from the other sessions. This change may have caused stress to the mice / to some individuals and can caused some animals to perform less well <sup>62</sup>. To avoid this in the future, there can be chosen to compare the session before the last measurement between the treatments.

Another reason may also have been that the five mice that had their last measurement in session 24 were less well trained / habituated than the three mice that had already their last measurement in session 19. These individual differences in response to the clicker training could be due to differences in intelligence <sup>63,64</sup>. So a subdivision had been made here into better trained animals (three) and less trained animals (five), the latter being in the majority and therefore fewer differences may be visible between the naive, control and trained animals.

Here too it has become clear that no effect of clicker training has been found between the treatments.

So overall there was no effect of training on both standing immediately to the right side of the platform and the percentage of the time that the mice stood on the right side of the platform. The next section discussed the behaviors and the seek contact behaviors in more detail and can perhaps show whether there has been an effect.

#### Training to experience less stress and seek more contact with the

#### researcher

In this study, the aim was not only to teach the mice to stand to the right side of the platform and to undergo an injection, but also to investigate whether training can help reduce stress and seek contact with the researcher in response to an injection, in case mice were trained to undergo the injection without fully restraining them. Various behaviors have been scored to assess the stress response of the mice and the contact seeking of the mice towards the researcher, the results of which will be discussed below.

#### The number of times the mice exhibited behaviors

First, each behavior was examined to see whether there was an interaction between the first (session 7/8) and last measurement (session 19/24) and the two treatments (control and trained mice), after which the overall effect of treatment and session was assessed. It was previously expected that the behaviors would be lessened or would be multiplied (depending on the behavior – see introduction) by training <sup>29</sup>, so over the time (between the first and last measurement) and also between the treatments (trained mice versus control mice).

Changes in the behaviors measured in this study over time (the first versus the last measurement) were not affected by treatment (trained versus control animals). For the behaviors 'freezing', 'grooming', 'rearing' and 'stretch attend' there were also no significant differences between the first and last measurement (all treatment groups taken together). This might have partly been caused by the fact that the injection might have

induced some distress in all animals, making a comparison to the first measurement (where no injection was given, but where the introduction to training might have caused some distress) difficult. Here, too, the session before the last measurement could be looked at in the future, but then it was no longer taken into account whether the training, even after the injection, influences the behaviors to be lower or higher than in untrained animals, as described in the literature above <sup>29</sup>.

Another reason with the behaviors could be that there was not enough data or that a choice was ultimately made for the control animals to pick up a fold in the neck and only restrain the mice completely when necessary (in only one animal (individual 45A03) the case where it really was not possible to pick up a fold in the neck). As a result, the difference between a non-aversive method (fold in neck) and an aversive method (fully restraining) had not been very clear and it may therefore also be that the data of the behaviors show minimal differences between control and trained animals.

There was also no difference between the control and trained animals for the behaviors 'freezing', 'grooming', 'rearing', 'sniffing the platform' and 'stretch attend'. One reason could be that there has not really been an effect of training (mentioned above), given that no effect on standing on the right side of the platform had occurred. In that case, habituation of the animals to the training environment probably affected their behavior, and this counted for both the trained mice as well as the control mice (because control mice were also exposed to the training environment, the researcher and the rewards – they were simply not specifically trained towards an injection without restraint). So that may have ensured that there was no difference between the control and trained mice either.

Specific to the behavior of 'grooming', there could be no differences because, as described in the introduction, this behavior is a maintenance behavior and a behavior that can be influenced by stress (occur by moderate levels or stop by high levels of stress). That makes grooming so complicated and in this case it was difficult to say anything about it. In order to be able to distinguish these two forms of grooming in the future, attention can be paid to the frequency of grooming, the total time of the number of bouts, disorganized grooming pattern and incomplete bouts, which all should increase due to stressors <sup>65</sup>.

For the behavior 'sniffing the platform' was a significant difference found between the first and the last measurement, with the behavior occurring more frequently during the last measurement than during the first measurement. As described in the introduction, this behavior can be performed either under stress or as an exploratory behavior. It is possible that there was more sniffing the platform due to stress during the last measurement because an injection was given then, which causes stress. On the other hand, it may also be the case that the mice had less stress as a result of the training and therefore started sniffing the platform more during the last measurement versus the first measurement due to exploration<sup>53,54</sup>. So this behavior can go both ways, making it difficult to say anything about it. For the number of times the mice defecated there was also a significant difference between the first and last measurement, with the behavior occurring more often during the last measurement, probably because during the last measurement an injection was given. This caused stress and made the mice defecate more. For the behavior 'defecating' was also a significant difference between the control and trained mice, this showed that the trained animals defecated more than control animals. A reason for this can be that the mice do not like noises <sup>15</sup> and they were stressed every time the bridging stimulus was used (whistle. which had a loud noise) <sup>16,47</sup>. The control animals did not hear the sound of the bridging stimulus and were only offered a reward every quarter minute, so they were not affected by this stressor. It was checked in advance whether the mice were startled by the dog whistle

by looking at their reaction (freezing or running away), then nothing was found. But it may still be the case that the mice did not like the sound.

Only the behavior 'escape attempt' was following the hypothesis. During the last measurement, the number of times that this behavior occurred was a lot lower than during the first measurement. Moreover trained animals showed fewer escape attempts than control animals. Again, these effects were probably due to habituation instead of training, as written above, because the training had no effect on the time the mice were on the right side of the platform and the other behaviors. Habituation had ensured that the mice had become accustomed to the environment and the procedure over time, and the trained mice may also be more habituated than the control mice by going through the different levels of the protocol.

Secondly, each behavior was examined during the last measurement (session 19/24), to see whether there was a difference between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals). It was previously expected that the behaviors would be lessened or multiplied (depending on the behavior – see introduction) by training <sup>29</sup>, so that the trained mice showed the least or the most behavior and the naive mice the opposite, whereby the control mice were somewhere in between the two treatments (naive and trained animals). However, there was no evidence that training affected the behaviors measured in this study. None of the behaviors showed significant difference between the treatments (only a trend was found for the number of escape attempts, but Post hoc tests were not able to reveal any differences between treatments). Potential explanations might be (as already described above): a lack of data due to low sample sizes (n = 7 trained mice, n = 8 control mice and n = 8 naive mice for the last measurement, only for the behavior defecation it was n = 6 trained mice, n = 6 control mice and n = 5 naive mice for the last measurement) or that the last measurement was different from the other sessions by giving an injection, which caused the mice stress.

Another reason may be that a choice was ultimately made for the naive and control animals to pick up a fold in the neck and only restrain the mice completely when necessary (in only one animal (individual 45A03) the case where it really was not possible to pick up a fold in the neck). As a result, the difference between a non-aversive method (fold in neck) and an aversive method (fully restraining) had not been very clear and it may therefore also be that the data of the behaviors showed minimal differences between naive, control and trained animals.

Finally, though urination almost never occurred and was therefore not statistically analyzed, it was striking that during the last measurement two naive animals urinated while none of the control or trained animals did, which also indicated a stress reduction in these latter animals<sup>16</sup>.

#### The number of times / the time the mice seek contact with the researcher

How long and how often the mice sought contact with the researcher after the final injection was measured to say something about the effect of clicker training and the way of handling and restraining on the reaction of the mice towards the researcher.

To do this, each contact seeking behavior was examined to see whether there was a difference between the three treatments (naive, control and trained animals) during the last measurement (session 19/24). It was previously expected that the contact seeking behaviors would be increased by training, so that the trained mice showed the most contact seeking

behavior and the naive mice the least, whereby the control mice were somewhere in between these two treatments (naive and trained animals) <sup>29</sup>.

For 'touch the hand' was a significant difference found, but only between the naive and trained mice, whereby the trained mice touched the hand more often than the naive mice. So here it was clear that the trained mice sought more contact with the researcher, even after injection, which was in line with the literature. The control animals needed not differ significantly from the naive and trained animals if they were exactly in between, which would also correspond to what was predicted.

Another behavior with a significant difference was eating the reward – trained mice and control mice ate the peanut butter significantly more often than the naïve animals (they never ate the reward). This might have been caused by the fact that, though the naive mice had eaten peanut butter previously (after some of the practical lessons the animals were used for), they had not been exposed to it as often and as much as the control and trained animals. They were possibly less used to the reward than the trained and control animals. Another reason can be that the naive mice still experienced more stress than the control and trained trained mice and therefore consumed the reward assumed not at all. There was no difference in eating the reward between the control and trained mice, probably because they were both equally used to being offered the reward.

There was also a significant difference found between treatments for the number of times the mice resisted and the time it took for the mice to be injected, but only between naive and trained mice, whereby the trained mice resisted the injection procedure less, required fewer attempts to inject and could therefore be injected faster than naive mice. This was also expected, because the study had trained these mice to stand still and accept the injection, while the naive mice were not used to anything and were startled by the attempt to pick up the fold of the neck. This also said that the control animals were in between these groups as expected. They were better habituated than naive animals, but not trained, so fell right in between the two other treatments.

Taken together the results showed that there were differences between trained mice and naive mice in their response to the injection, but not much difference between the control and trained mice, further confirming that habituation (which control animals also underwent for some parts – although not for the injection procedure) played a large role in these responses, in addition to training for the injection procedure itself.

#### The importance of habituation

As already mentioned, the clicker training was not successful to train the animals to stand to the right side of the platform and stayed there to receive an injection, so habituation of the animals to the training environment and procedure had probably affected their behavior. This was consistent with the data of the behaviors in which there were often no differences between the control and trained mice due to this habituation, while there were sometimes differences between the naive mice (not habituated) compared to the control and trained animals (both habituated).

However, although the clicker training might not have been completely effective, the habituation that resulted from the training procedures by breaking up the injection procedure eventually did result in the mice undergoing an injection without having to be fully restrained and in a quick and easy manner. Afterwards, the 'habituated' animals (the trained animals and the control animals) showed more contact seeking behavior towards the researcher than

naive animals, indicating that the naive animals were likely avoiding the researcher after the injection procedure, while habituated animals did not. This might indicate that simply habituating the mice properly might reduce the need for restraining and might therefore lead to stress reduction and thus an improvement in well-being.

### Limitations

One of the limitations of this research was the small sample size. A trade-off had been made in advance between the number of animals used and the time it took to train them. Due to the small number of animals used and the large variation in the data, it was sometimes difficult to be able to say something about the measured values. In order to be able to say more about the effect of clicker training and performed behaviors, it might be helpful to use more animals. So this study can now be seen more as a pilot in which there was explored some of the possibilities of training mice, but the study in itself could not say much about the effects (except the mentioned advantages of habituation).

Peanut butter was used as a reward in the study. This had to be diluted to prevent choking symptoms in the mice. This however was not standardized, which could have been done by mixing the exact same amount of peanut butter and water every day, so that the dilution is always the same.

Also the amount of peanut butter that was offered as a reward each time was not standardized, which meant that the amount of peanut butter the mice received varied per reward moment. As mentioned, larger rewards will take longer to eat and influence the amount of time spent in the location where the mice received the reward (the right side of the platform for trained mice, random locations on the platform for control mice). This could be avoided by standardizing the amount of reward offered, by weighing the reward and offering an exact amount of peanut butter each time. A standardized time in which mice were allowed to eat the reward of, for example, 2 seconds could also be used for this to keep this the same for every mouse.

Sometimes when the reward was offered, the mouse was more concerned with examining the researcher's hand than eating the reward. Again, it is good to have a standardized time of, for example, 2 seconds in which the reward is offered. If no attention is paid to the reward within this time, the reward will be removed again. This way, a mouse can be prevented from standing on one side for longer during follow-up research

It had also been noted that the mice moved more to the side where the researcher was standing. So this can be prevented in the future by just standing in the middle and only if the reward is given, for example, give the reward on the side where the mouse is currently standing for the control mice. This can also be standardized by placing a dot on the floor where the researcher should stand.

There was made use of a platform, which at the top consisted of a bent square made of iron with small holes in it. When the mice were stressed, it could sometimes happen that they got stuck in the holes with their nails on the side. The researcher then had to help release them. This has of course been stressful and perhaps painful. The iron was also quite cold, which may not have been very pleasant for the mice. During the training it was also visible that the mice continued to find the platform frightening (performing behaviors and not eating the reward on the platform, while the reward was eaten by everyone in the home cage). All

those things may also have affected the training, so it would be better to solve these things in future research. It could be possible to solve these three things in one time by means of a vetbed (described by RISE (Research Institutes of Sweden) in their video <sup>29</sup>) on the platform (a soft piece of fabric). This vetbed could already be used during the habituation, making it familiar to the mice. As a result, the mice are no longer stuck with their nails in the holes, the iron no longer feels cold and the mice may be less stressed because the vetbed already looks familiar to them and they have a nice association with it <sup>29</sup>.

It was also noted that in training, the mice sometimes never accept the reward again after 2.5 / 3 minutes. It seemed like the concentration arc was no longer than that, because they did very well before that time and became much busier and more restless after this time (so probably not saturated which could otherwise be a reason). This can be addressed in follow-up research by having a training session lasting only 2.5 minutes or 5 minutes where 30 seconds of training is alternated with a 15 second break <sup>16</sup>.

As is described above, the clicker training had not really an effect on the time it took the mice to go directly to the right side of the platform and on the time the mice stood on the right side of the platform. This may be because the association may not have been complete / correct in the beginning between the reward and the bridging stimulus (dog whistle), so that if there had been a stronger association in the beginning, the mice could be trained more. Other reasons could be caused by the environment or the trainer. But also because the reinforcer was too weak, so a solution is to make it stronger and therefore look for things that the mice like even more and want to work harder for. It was also possible that the speed of the reinforcement is too low, so the number of times a reward could be given because the desired behavior was performed. This may be because the task was too difficult. The aim is to try to click 10-15 times per minute. So if the behavior is too difficult, it should still be broken down further into smaller steps during the training <sup>66</sup>.

If the behavior occurs more often than 10x after each other, it can also help to reward only when the mouse shows the behavior twice in a row. And also the use of a super reward at the end of the training can improve clicker training <sup>16</sup>. These things could help to actually train the animal the next time instead of habituating it.

Furthermore, it was difficult to count the number of times the mouse was defecating. So this was solved to count the number of poops that were on the platform. This may not have always been correct because it was also necessary to keep track of how often the mouse accepted the reward, so sometimes it was difficult to remember both. And another reason was because the mouse could also be at the edge of the platform, so that the poo fell right on the ground instead of first on the platform. A solution for this can be to use a different camera set-up in the future, because the mice were filmed with a set-up with one camera. With this camera set-up it was difficult to see if the mice were defecating, but also the behavior the mice performed on the left side or the behavior if the investigator's hand was in front of it. So there could be made use of a setup where there are 2 cameras (one on the right and one on the left or one on the right and one camera from above).

## Recommendations future research

Based on the limitation, which is described above, here a brief description of the recommendations for further research is described.

- The use a greater number of animals
- Standardization of the peanut butter dilution, how much peanut butter offered and the time to consumed the peanut butter
- The use of a vetbed on top of the platform <sup>29</sup>
- Standardization of how long the reward is offered to the mice each time a reward is given
- Standardizing the training setup even more: for example by positioning the experimenter on exactly the same location in relation to the training cage
- The use of a different camera set-up to make more detailed behavioural observations possible (e.g. score defecation)
- Shorten the training time or insert breaks <sup>16</sup>
- Use a stronger reinforcement and divide the behaviors into even smaller steps <sup>66</sup>
- In case of frequent occurrence of the behavior, reward only when showing the behavior twice and give a super reward at the end of the training <sup>16</sup>

## Conclusion

There was no clear effect of the clicker training, which was aimed at training the mice to stand to the right side of the platform and stay there to undergo a subcutaneous injection in the neck. There were also little/no differences between the control and trained animals for the behaviors and the contact seeking behaviors, which might indicate that the trained animals are more habituated to the procedure instead of actually trained. As a result of this habituation, the trained animals touched the hand of the researcher more often after the injection, ate the reward more often, pulled back less during the injection procedure, took less time to inject and did not urinate during the last measurement compared to naive animals. Thus, mice from the trained group allowed an injection without restraining, likely due to habituation to the procedure. So simply habituating the mice might reduce the need for restraining and might therefore lead to stress reduction and thus an improvement in well-being. And also ensures a less negative association with the researcher. It could also not be ruled out with this study that training does not work in mice, but by taking the above recommendations into account, hopefully, in a follow-up study, the training protocol used in this study can be further refined and optimized, so that the additional effects of training on ease of handling and injecting, and subsequently on indicators of stress can be investigated.

## Acknowledgement

I want to say thanks to Dr. Esther Langen, because she has guided and supported me on this research internship. She showed me how to handle animals in a way other than restraining. And on this research internship I really got to experience that laboratory animals are also animals that feel and experience things and that should therefore always be handled with respect, calmness and love. So thank you very much for this interesting, in-depth and educational internship, which could be continued despite a crazy time with COVID-19.

## References

1. Reuveni E, Birney E, Gross CT. The consequence of natural selection on genetic variation in the mouse. *Genomics (San Diego, Calif.)*. 2010;95(4):196-202. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2010.02.004. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2010.02.004.

2. Phifer-Rixey M, Nachman MW. Insights into mammalian biology from the wild house mouse mus musculus. *eLife*. 2015;4. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.7554/elife.05959. doi: 10.7554/elife.05959.

3. Ruberte J, Carretero A, Navarro M. *Morphological mouse phenotyping*. San Diego: Elsevier Science & Technology; 2017. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/[SITE\_ID]/detail.action?docID=5520915.

4. Frazer KA, Eskin E, Kang HM, et al. A sequence-based variation map of 8.27 million SNPs in inbred mouse strains. *Nature (London)*. 2007;448(7157):1050-1053. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1038/nature06067. doi: 10.1038/nature06067.

5. Bell TA, Pardo-Manuel de Villena F, Churchill GA, Yang H. On the subspecific origin of the laboratory mouse. *Nature genetics*. 2007;39(9):1100-1107. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng2087. doi: 10.1038/ng2087.

6. THE JACKSON LABORATORY. C3H/HeJ. https://www.jax.org/strain/000659 Web site. Updated 2020. Accessed 12-11-2020.

7. Southwick CH, Clark LH. Aggressive behavior and exploratory activity in 14 mouse strains. 1966;6(4):559.

8. Wahlsten D, Metten P, Crabbe JC. A rating scale for wildness and ease of handling laboratory mice: Results for 21 inbred strains tested in two laboratories. *Genes Brain Behav*. 2003;2(2):71-79. doi: 10.1034/j.1601-183x.2003.00012.x [doi].

9. Bryda EC. The mighty mouse: The impact of rodents on advances in biomedical research. *Missouri medicine*. 2013;110(3):207-211. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23829104.

10. García-García MJ. A history of mouse genetics: From fancy mice to mutations in every gene. In: *Animal models of human birth defects.* Vol 1236. Singapore: Springer Singapore; 2020:1-38. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-981-15-2389-2\_1. 10.1007/978-981-15-2389-2\_1.

11. Nederlands Dagblad. Inteelt hoeft niet schadelijk te zijn, zo bewijst de laboratoriummuis. https://www.stichtinginformatiedierproeven.nl/inteelt-hoeft-niet-schadelijk-te-zijn-zo-bewijst-d e-laboratoriummuis/

Web site. Updated 2016. Accessed 12-11-2020.

12. Tom Arends. De muis: Proefdier bij uitstek. http://www.natuurinformatie.nl/nnm.dossiers/natuurdatabase.nl/i005505.html Web site. Accessed 12-11-2020.

13. Centrale Commissie Dierproeven. Niet-technische samenvatting 20172264. 2017:4. https://www.centralecommissiedierproeven.nl/binaries/ccd/documenten/vergunningen/17/8/1 5/nts-20172264-inter-individuele-verschillen-gedrag-fysiologie-statistiek/NTS+20172264.pdf.

14. Beery AK, Kaufer D. Stress, social behavior, and resilience: Insights from rodents. *Neurobiology of stress*. 2015;1(C):116-127. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1016/j.ynstr.2014.10.004. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2014.10.004.

15. Neely C, Lane C, Torres J, Flinn J. The effect of gentle handling on depressive-like behavior in adult male mice: Considerations for human and rodent interactions in the laboratory. *Behavioural neurology*. 2018;2018:1-7. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1155/2018/2976014. doi: 10.1155/2018/2976014.

16. Leidinger C, Herrmann F, Thöne-Reineke C, Baumgart N, Baumgart J. Introducing clicker training as a cognitive enrichment for laboratory mice. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. 2017(121). https://www.jove.com/55415. doi: 10.3791/55415.

17. Meijer MK, Sommer R, Spruijt BM, van Zutphen, L. F. M. Influence of environmental enrichment and handling on the acute stress response in individually housed mice. 2007. https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/26166.

18. Stuart SA, Robinson ESJ. Reducing the stress of drug administration: Implications for the 3Rs. *Scientific reports*. 2015;5(1):14288. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1038/srep14288. doi: 10.1038/srep14288.

19. Meijer MK, Spruijt BM, van Zutphen, L F M, Baumans V. Effect of restraint and injection methods on heart rate and body temperature in mice. *Laboratory animals (London)*. 2006;40(4):382-391. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1258/002367706778476370. doi: 10.1258/002367706778476370.

20. Wet dieren. https://wetten.overheid.nl/BWBR0030250/2019-01-01. Updated 2019.

21. Gouveia K, Hurst JL. Optimising reliability of mouse performance in behavioural testing: The major role of non-aversive handling. *Scientific reports*. 2017;7(1):44999. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1038/srep44999. doi: 10.1038/srep44999.

22. Flecknell P. Replacement, reduction and refinement. ALTEX. 2002;19(2):73-78.

23. Gouveia K, Hurst JL. Reducing mouse anxiety during handling: Effect of experience with handling tunnels. *PloS one*. 2013;8(6):e66401. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1371/journal.pone.0066401. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066401.

24. Gouveia K, Hurst JL. Improving the practicality of using non-aversive handling methods to reduce background stress and anxiety in laboratory mice. *Scientific reports*. 2019;9(1):20305-19. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1038/s41598-019-56860-7. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-56860-7.

25. Clarkson JM, Dwyer DM, Flecknell PA, Leach MC, Rowe C. Handling method alters the hedonic value of reward in laboratory mice. *Scientific reports*. 2018;8(1):2448-8. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1038/s41598-018-20716-3. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20716-3.

26. Henderson LJ, Dani B, Serrano EMN, Smulders TV, Roughan JV. Benefits of tunnel handling persist after repeated restraint, injection and anaesthesia. *Scientific reports*. 2020;10(1):14562. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1893963087. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-71476-y.

27. Hurst JL, West RS. Taming anxiety in laboratory mice. *Nature methods*. 2010;7(10):825-826. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1038/nmeth.1500. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1500.

28. NAKAMURA Y, SUZUKI K. Tunnel use facilitates handling of ICR mice and decreases experimental variation. *Journal of veterinary medical science*. 2018;80(6):886-892. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1292/jvms.18-0044. doi: 10.1292/jvms.18-0044.

29. RISE. *Research institutes of sweden RISE.* [https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bdtVZtrr69c].; 2019.

30. Yin S. Low stress handling, restraint and behavior modification of dogs and cats. 2009.

31. Thiele E, Perlman JE, Schapiro SJ, Lambeth S. Training nonhuman primates to perform behaviors useful in biomedical research. *Lab animal*. 2005;34(5):37-42. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/laban0505-37. doi: 10.1038/laban0505-37.

32. Perlman, J. E., Thiele, E., Whittaker, M. A. et al. Training chimpanzees to accept subcutaneous injections using positive reinforcement training techniques. american journal of primatology. 2004.

33. Videan EN, Borman R, Howell S, Murphy J, Smith HF, Fritz J. Training captive chimpanzees to cooperate for an anesthetic injection. *Lab animal*. 2005;34(5):43-48. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/laban0505-43. doi: 10.1038/laban0505-43.

34. REINHARDT V. Training adult male rhesus monkeys to actively cooperate during in-homecage venipuncture. *Anim.Technol.* 1991;42:11-17. https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10014820622/en/.

35. Deane K. Training zoo animals for better welfare, better nursing. *The veterinary nurse*. 2017;8(2):116-122. doi: 10.12968/vetn.2017.8.2.116.

36. VanElzakker MB, Kathryn Dahlgren M, Caroline Davis F, Dubois S, Shin LM. From pavlov to PTSD: The extinction of conditioned fear in rodents, humans, and anxiety disorders. *Neurobiology of learning and memory*. 2014;113:3-18. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1016/j.nlm.2013.11.014. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2013.11.014.

37. Rehman I, Mahabadi N, Sanvictores T, Rehman CI. Classical conditioning. In: *StatPearls.* Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing LLC; 2020. NBK470326

38. Staddon JE, Cerutti DT. Operant conditioning. *Annu Rev Psychol.* 2003;54:115-144. doi: 101601.145124 [pii].

39. Hiby EF, Rooney NJ, Bradshaw JWS. Dog training methods: Their use, effectiveness and interaction with behaviour and welfare. *Animal Welfare*. 2004;13(1):63-69. http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/ufaw/aw/2004/00000013/00000001/art00010.

40. Ziv G. The effects of using aversive training methods in dogs—A review. *Journal of veterinary behavior*. 2017;19:50-60. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1016/j.jveb.2017.02.004. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2017.02.004.

41. Fischer B, Wegener D. Emphasizing the "positive" in positive reinforcement: Using nonbinary rewarding for training monkeys on cognitive tasks. *Journal of neurophysiology*. 2018;120(1):115-128. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29617217. doi: 10.1152/jn.00572.2017.

42. Wergård E, Temrin H, Forkman B, Spångberg M, Fredlund H, Westlund K. Training pair-housed rhesus macaques (macaca mulatta) using a combination of negative and positive reinforcement. *Behavioural processes*. 2015;113:51-59. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2014.12.008. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2014.12.008.

43. Leidinger CS, Kaiser N, Baumgart N, Baumgart J. Using clicker training and social observation to teach rats to voluntarily change cages. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. 2018(140). https://www.jove.com/58511. doi: 10.3791/58511.

44. Lueptow LM. Novel object recognition test for the investigation of learning and memory in mice. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. 2017(126). https://search.datacite.org/works/10.3791/55718. doi: 10.3791/55718.

45. Lezak KR, Missig G, Carlezon J, William A. Behavioral methods to study anxiety in rodents. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*. 2017;19(2):181-191. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28867942.

46. Machida M, Sutton AM, Williams BL, Wellman LL, Sanford LD. Differential behavioral, stress, and sleep responses in mice with different delays of fear extinction. *Sleep (New York, N.Y.)*. 2019;42(10). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31322681. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsz147.

47. Campos AC, Fogaça MV, Aguiar DC, Guimarães FS. Animal models of anxiety disorders and stress. *Revista brasileira de psiquiatria*. 2013;35 Suppl 2(suppl 2):S101-S111. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24271222. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2013-1139.

48. Genewsky AJ, Albrecht N, Bura SA, et al. How much fear is in anxiety? 2018.

49. Podhorna J, Brown RE. Strain differences in activity and emotionality do not account for differences in learning and memory performance between C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice. *Genes, brain and behavior*. 2002;1(2):96-110.

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1034/j.1601-183X.2002.10205.x. doi: 10.1034/j.1601-183X.2002.10205.x.

50. Buccafusco JJ, Rosecrans JA. *Methods of behavior analysis in neuroscience.* Baton Rouge: CRC Press; 2001. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/e/9781420041811. 10.1201/9781420041811.

51. Steimer T. Animal models of anxiety disorders in rats and mice: Some conceptual issues. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*. 2011;13(4):495-506. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22275854.

52. Song C, Berridge KC, Kalueff AV. 'Stressing' rodent self-grooming for neuroscience research. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*. 2016;17(9):591. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1812507568. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.103.

53. Santhiveeran S, Haga-Yamanaka S. Protocol for mice behavioral analysis in response to predator cues. 2018.

54. Sestakova N, Puzserova A, Kluknavsky M, Bernatova I. Determination of motor activity and anxiety-related behaviour in rodents: Methodological aspects and role of nitric oxide. *Interdisciplinary toxicology*. 2013;6(3):126-135. http://www.degruyter.com/doi/10.2478/intox-2013-0020. doi: 10.2478/intox-2013-0020.

55. Sturman O, Germain P, Bohacek J. Exploratory rearing: A context- and stress-sensitive behavior recorded in the open-field test. *Stress (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*. 2018;21(5):443-452. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10253890.2018.1438405. doi: 10.1080/10253890.2018.1438405.

56. Péter A. Solomon coder. 2019;19.08.02.

57. RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated development for R. 2020.

58. Douglas Bates, Martin Mächler, Ben Bolker, Steve Walker. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. *Journal of statistical software*. 2015;67(1):1-48. https://explore.openaire.eu/search/publication?articleId=dedup\_wf\_001::d35ec8da2e9ca56a 05707d05fb5ea921. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01. 59. Wickham H. Ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. 2016.

60. Coon/Mitterer/Martini. *Introduction to psychology: Gateways to mind and behavior.* Cengage Learning; 2018.

http://www.vlebooks.com/vleweb/product/openreader?id=none&isbn=9781337671309.

61. Rosenbaum MD, VandeWoude S, Johnson TE. Effects of cage-change frequency and bedding volume on mice and their microenvironment. *Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science*. 2009;48(6):763-773.

http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/aalas/jaalas/2009/00000048/0000006/art00010.

62. Koolhaas JM, Benus RF, VAN OORTMERSSEN GA. Individual differences in behavioural reaction to a changing environment in mice and rats. *Behaviour*. 1987;100(1-4):105-121.

http://booksandjournals.brillonline.com/content/journals/10.1163/156853987x00099. doi: 10.1163/156853987X00099.

63. KOLATA S, LIGHT K, GROSSMAN HC, HALE G, MATZEL LD. Selective attention is a primary determinant of the relationship between working memory and general learning ability in outbred mice. *Learning & memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)*. 2007;14(1-6):22-28. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17272650. doi: 10.1101/lm.408507.

64. Matzel LD, Wass C, Kolata S. Individual differences in animal intelligence: Learning, reasoning, selective attentionand inter-species conservation of a cognitive trait. 2011. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7j70w398.

65. Kalueff AV, Stewart AM, Song C, Berridge KC, Graybiel AM, Fentress JC. Neurobiology of rodent self-grooming and its value for translational neuroscience. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*. 2016;17(1):45-59. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26675822. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2015.8.

66. Chamberland L. When good training goes badly: Troubleshooting your training. https://www.clickertraining.com/when-good-training-goes-badly Web site. Updated 2017. Accessed 29-01-2021.

## Appendix 1 The time it takes for the mice to stand directly to the right side of the platform

		Time					
Session	Date	(seconds)	Mouse	Group	Individual	Treatment	Level
6	23-11-2020	2	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
6	23-11-2020	0.5	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	1
6	23-11-2020	1	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	1
6	23-11-2020	1	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	1
6	23-11-2020	5	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	1
6	23-11-2020	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	1
6	23-11-2020	2	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	1
6	23-11-2020	2	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	1
6	23-11-2020	5	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	1
6	23-11-2020	1	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	1
7	24-11-2020	2	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
7	24-11-2020	2	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	1
7	24-11-2020	3	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	1
7	24-11-2020	6	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	1
7	24-11-2020	7	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	1
7	24-11-2020		5	2A 14	52A 14	2	1
7	24-11-2020		1	2A 14	12A 14	2	1
7	24-11-2020	9	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	1
7	24-11-2020	2	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	1
7	24-11-2020	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	1
8	26-11-2020	3	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	1
8	26-11-2020	8	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	1
8	26-11-2020	4	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	1
8	26-11-2020	9	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
8	26-11-2020	1	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	1
8	26-11-2020	3	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	1
8	26-11-2020	2	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	1
8	26-11-2020	3	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	1
8	26-11-2020	6	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	1
8	26-11-2020	5	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	3
9	1-12-2020	2	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	1
9	1-12-2020	3	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
9	1-12-2020	4	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
9	1-12-2020	5	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	3
9	1-12-2020	4	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	4
9	1-12-2020	2	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	3
9	1-12-2020	2	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	3
9	1-12-2020	10	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
9	1-12-2020	6	1	ZA 18	12A 18	2	3
9	1-12-2020	8	2	ZA 18	22A 18	2	1
10	2-12-2020	1	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	
10	2-12-2020	3	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	4
10	2-12-2020	3	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	
10	2-12-2020	5	5	ZA 14	52A 14	2	4
10	2-12-2020	2	1	ZA 14	12A 14	2	3

10	2-12-2020	1	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	4
10	2-12-2020	2	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	4
10	2-12-2020	5	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
10	2-12-2020	1	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
10	2-12-2020	2	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	1
11	3-12-2020	6	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
11	3-12-2020	1	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
11	3-12-2020	2	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	2
11	3-12-2020	4	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	4
11	3-12-2020	3	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	4
11	3-12-2020	6	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	3
11	3-12-2020	2	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	4
11	3-12-2020	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
11	3-12-2020	2	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	4
11	3-12-2020	4	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
12	4-12-2020	3	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	4
12	4-12-2020	2	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	4
12	4-12-2020	1	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	4
12	4-12-2020	4	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
12	4-12-2020	6	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	2
12	4-12-2020	2	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	4
12	4-12-2020	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
12	4-12-2020	6	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
12	4-12-2020	2	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
12	4-12-2020	5	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	2
13	8-12-2020	3	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
13	8-12-2020	1	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
13	8-12-2020	1	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
13	8-12-2020	15	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	4
13	8-12-2020	4	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	4
13	8-12-2020	12	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	4
13	8-12-2020	3	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	3
13	8-12-2020	4	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	2
13	8-12-2020	2	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
13	8-12-2020	3	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
14	10-12-2020	6	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	4
14	10-12-2020	1	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
14	10-12-2020	7	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	4
14	10-12-2020	13	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	4
14	10-12-2020	0.5	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	3
14	10-12-2020	1	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
14	10-12-2020	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
14	10-12-2020	3	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
14	10-12-2020	2	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
14	10-12-2020	1	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
15	11-12-2020	2	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
15	11-12-2020	3	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
15	11-12-2020	1	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3

15	11-12-2020	0.5	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	4
15	11-12-2020	5	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
15	11-12-2020	2	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	4
15	11-12-2020	4	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	4
15	11-12-2020	1	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	3
15	11-12-2020	2	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
15	11-12-2020	0.5	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
16	15-12-2020	2	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	4
16	15-12-2020	1	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	3
16	15-12-2020	3	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	5
16	15-12-2020	2	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	5
16	15-12-2020	3	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
16	15-12-2020	2	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
16	15-12-2020	2	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
16	15-12-2020	5	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	3
16	15-12-2020	0.5	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
16	15-12-2020	2	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
17	16-12-2020	6	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	5
17	16-12-2020	6	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	5
17	16-12-2020	1	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	3
17	16-12-2020	1	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
17	16-12-2020	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
17	16-12-2020	5	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
17	16-12-2020	1	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
17	16-12-2020	3	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
17	16-12-2020	1	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	5
17	16-12-2020	3	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	3
18	17-12-2020	1	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	3
18	17-12-2020	1	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
18	17-12-2020	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
18	17-12-2020	4	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	6
18	17-12-2020	3	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	6
18	17-12-2020	1	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	6
18	17-12-2020	1	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	3
18	17-12-2020	1	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
18	17-12-2020	2	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	3
18	17-12-2020	2	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
19	18-12-2020	1	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	3
19	18-12-2020	1	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	3
19	18-12-2020	0.5	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	3
19	18-12-2020	5	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
19	18-12-2020	7	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	4
19	18-12-2020	1	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
19	18-12-2020	17	3	5A 03	35A 03	2	7
19	18-12-2020	9	1	5A 03	15A 03	2	7
19	18-12-2020	6	5	2A 14	52A 14	2	7
19	18-12-2020	2	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
20	5-1-2021		3	5A 03	35A 03	2	7

20	5-1-2021		1	5A 03	15A 03	2	7
20	5-1-2021	2	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	4
20	5-1-2021	3	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	4
20	5-1-2021	2	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	4
20	5-1-2021	2	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
20	5-1-2021	1	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	4
20	5-1-2021	0.5	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
20	5-1-2021		5	2A 14	52A 14	2	7
20	5-1-2021	0.5	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
21	6-1-2021		3	5A 03	35A 03	2	7
21	6-1-2021		1	5A 03	15A 03	2	7
21	6-1-2021	4	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
21	6-1-2021	0.5	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	4
21	6-1-2021	8	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
21	6-1-2021		5	2A 14	52A 14	2	7
21	6-1-2021	1	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
21	6-1-2021	2	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	4
21	6-1-2021	1	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	4
21	6-1-2021	0.5	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	4
22	7-1-2021		3	5A 03	35A 03	2	7
22	7-1-2021		1	5A 03	15A 03	2	7
22	7-1-2021	2	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	4
22	7-1-2021	0.5	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	4
22	7-1-2021	4	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	4
22	7-1-2021	3	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
22	7-1-2021	1	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	4
22	7-1-2021	0.5	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	4
22	7-1-2021		5	2A 14	52A 14	2	7
22	7-1-2021	1	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	4
23	8-1-2021	7	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
23	8-1-2021	3	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	5
23	8-1-2021	2	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	1
23	8-1-2021		5	2A 14	52A 14	2	7
23	8-1-2021	0.5	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	5
23	8-1-2021		3	5A 03	35A 03	2	7
23	8-1-2021		1	5A 03	15A 03	2	7
23	8-1-2021	1	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	5
23	8-1-2021	0.5	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	5
23	8-1-2021	2	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	5
24	12-1-2021		3	5A 03	35A 03	2	7
24	12-1-2021		1	5A 03	15A 03	2	7
24	12-1-2021	1	4	2A 18	42A 18	2	1
24	12-1-2021	0.5	1	2A 18	12A 18	2	7
24	12-1-2021	1	2	2A 18	22A 18	2	3
24	12-1-2021	3	3	5A 14	35A 14	2	7
24	12-1-2021	6	2	5A 14	25A 14	2	7
24	12-1-2021	1	4	5A 14	45A 14	2	7
24	12-1-2021		5	2A 14	52A 14	2	7

24 12	2-1-2021	2	1	2A 14	12A 14	2	7

## Appendix 2 The time the mice are on the right side of the platform

Time (weeks)	Session	n Date	Last measurement	Time right (seconds)	Time left (seconds)	Time nothing to see (seconds)	Time total (seconds)	Percentage right (%)	Mouse	Group	Individual	Treatment	Level
First measurement (pre-measurement) 26-10-2020 (week 1)	8	8 26-10-2020	0	180.5	125.5	0	306	58.99	1	2A14	12A14	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 26-10-2020 (week 1)	8	8 26-10-2020	0	160	138.5	4.5	303	52.81	5	2A14	52A14	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	161.5	131	9.5	302	53.48	1	2A18	12A18	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)	-	7 24-10-2020	0	189.5	111.5	0.5	301.5	62.85	2	2A18	22A18	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)	-	7 24-10-2020	0	179.5	125	1.5	306	58.66	4	2A18	42A18	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)	-	7 24-10-2020	0	192.5	108	0	300.5	64.06	1	5A03	15A03	2	3
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)	-	7 24-10-2020	0	207.5	98.5	0.5	306.5	67.7	3	5A03	35A03	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)	-	7 24-10-2020	0	184	138	0	322	57.14	2	5A14	25A14	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)	-	7 24-10-2020	0	142	161	1	304	46.71	3	5A14	35A14	2	1
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)	-	7 24-10-2020	0	218.5	85	0	303.5	71.99	4	5A14	45A14	2	1
Second measurement 01-12-2020 (week 2)		9 1-12-2020	0	244	63.5	0	307.5	79.35	1	2A14	12A14	2	3
	2 9	9 1-12-2020	0	232.5	72	0	304.5	76.35	5	2A14	52A14	2	3
	2 0	9 1-12-2020	0	255	45	1.5	301.5	84.58	1	2A18	12A18	2	3
	2 0	9 1-12-2020	0	214	88		302	70.86	2	2A18	22A18	2	1
	2 0	9 1-12-2020	0	253 5	49.5	0	303	83.66	4	2418	42418	2	1
	2 0	9 1-12-2020	0	255.5	25.5	1	305	91 31	. 1	5403	15403	2	4
	2 0	9 1-12-2020	0	210.5	99.5	0.5	311.05	67.9	3	5403	35403	2	3
	2 0	9 1-12-2020	0	207	93.5	0.5	300 5	68.89	2	5414	25414	2	3
	2 .	9 1-12-2020	0	188 5	113 5	0	302	62.42	2	5014	35614	2	1
	2 .	1-12-2020	0	251 5	53	0.5	305	82.42	1	5 1 1	45014	2	2
	2 1	9 1-12-2020 9 8-12-2020	0	231.3	78 5	0.5	306 5	7/ 20	1	2014	12014	2	3
	2 1	0 12 2020	0	220	/0.5	0	204	94.33	-	2014	E2A14	2	1
	2 1	5 8-12-2020 9 9 12 2020	0	230	40	0	304	64.21	1	2414	12414	2	4
	2 1	0 12 2020	0	242 E	117 61 E	0	205	70.94	2	2410	22410	2	2
	2 1	3 8 12 2020	0	243.3	01.5	0	303	75.04	2	2A10	42410	2	3
	5 1	5 8-12-2020	0	241.5	60.5	0	302	79.97	4	2410	42A18	2	1
	3 1:	3 8-12-2020	0	244.5	50.5	0	295	82.88	1	5AU3	15A03	2	4
	3 1:	3 8-12-2020	0	224.5	81.5	0	306	/3.3/	3	5A03	35AU3	2	4
	3 1:	3 8-12-2020	0	198.5	104	0	302.5	65.62	2	5A14	25A14	2	3
	3 1:	3 8-12-2020	0	180	120.5	0	300.5	59.9	3	5A14	35A14	2	2
	3 13	3 8-12-2020	0	202.5	96	0	298.5	67.84	4	5A14	45A14	2	3
	4 16	5 15-12-2020	0	215.5	89.5	0	305	70.66	1	2A14	12A14	2	3
	4 16	5 15-12-2020	0	164.5	128.5	12.5	313.5	52.47	5	2A14	52A14	2	4
	4 16	5 15-12-2020	0	196.5	100.5	0	297	66.16	1	2A18	12A18	2	3
	4 16	5 15-12-2020	0	193	101	0	294	65.65	2	2A18	22A18	2	3
	4 16	5 15-12-2020	0	215.5	85.5	0	301	71.59	4	2A18	42A18	2	1
	4 10	5 15-12-2020	0	262.5	41	5	308.5	85.09	1	5A03	15A03	2	5
	4 16	5 15-12-2020	0	201.5	103	1	305.5	65.96	3	5A03	35A03	2	5
	4 10	5 15-12-2020	0	175.5	126	0	301.5	58.21	2	5A14	25A14	2	3
	4 10	5 15-12-2020	0	170	128.5	0	298.5	56.95	3	5A14	35A14	2	3
	4 16	5 15-12-2020	0	228	68.5	0	296.5	76.9	4	5A14	45A14	2	3
5 (05-01-2021)	20	0 5-1-2021	0	213	91.5	0	304.5	69.95	1	2A14	12A14	2	4
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020	19	9 18-12-2020	1	208.5	94.5	0	303	68.81	5	2A14	52A14	2	7
5 (05-01-2021)	20	0 5-1-2021	0	155.5	148	0	303.5	51.24	1	2A18	12A18	2	4
5 (05-01-2021)	20	0 5-1-2021	0	170.5	132.5	0	303	56.27	2	2A18	22A18	2	3
5 (05-01-2021)	20	0 5-1-2021	0	199	107	0	306	65.03	4	2A18	42A18	2	1
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020	19	9 18-12-2020	1	259.5	38	5.5	303	85.64	1	5A03	15A03	2	7
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020	19	9 18-12-2020	1						3	5A03	35A03	2	7
5 (05-01-2021)	20	0 5-1-2021	0	200.5	101.5	0	302	66.39	2	5A14	25A14	2	4
5 (05-01-2021)	20	5-1-2021	0	214.5	91	0	305.5	70.21	3	5A14	35A14	2	4
5 (05-01-2021)	20	0 5-1-2021	0	201.5	102.5	0	304	66.28	4	5A14	45A14	2	4
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	24	4 12-1-2021	1	210.5	97	0	307.5	68.46	1	2A14	12A14	2	7
	6 24	4 12-1-2021	0						5	2A14	52A14	2	7
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	24	4 12-1-2021	1	174.5	130.5	0	305	57.21	1	2A18	12A18	2	7
6 (12-01-2021)	24	4 12-1-2021	0	189.5	113	0	302.5	62.64	2	2A18	22A18	2	3
6 (12-01-2021)	24	4 12-1-2021	0	90	70	0	160	56.25	4	2A18	42A18	2	1
· · ·	6 24	4 12-1-2021	0			-			1	5A03	15A03	2	7
	6 24	4 12-1-2021	0						3	5A03	35A03	2	7
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021		4 12-1-2021	1	180	123 5	n	303 5	59.21	2	5414	25414	2	, 7
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	2.	4 12-1-2021	1	126 5	176 5	0	303.3	A1 75	2	5414	35414	2	7
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	2-	4 12-1-2021	1	120.5	170.5	0	305	41.75 60.36	4	5414	45414	2	7
First measurement (nre-measurement) 26-10-2021	24	8 26-10-2021	1	105	107	0	3UE 2002	27.25	4	2014	27014	2	, 0
machicasarchient (pre-measurement) 20-10-2020 (week 1)		5 20-10-2020	0	114	192	0	500	57.25	2	2714	22714	1	0

First measurement (pre-measurement) 26-10-2020 (week 1) First measurement (pre-measurement) 26-10-2020 (week 1) First measurement (pre-First measurement (pre-First measurement (pre-First measurement (pre-First measurement (pre-First measurement (pre-First measurement (pre-Second measurement 01

8 26-10-2020

0

144.5

165

0

309.5

46.69

3 2A14

32A14

1

0

First measurement (pre-measurement) 26-10-2020 (week 1)		8 26-10-2020	0	212.5	88.5	0	301	70.6	4 2A14	42A14	1	0
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	169	137	0	306	55.23	3 2A18	32A18	1	0
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	188.5	116	1.5	306	61.6	5 2A18	52A18	1	0
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	114	191.5	0	305.5	37.32	2 5A03	25A03	1	0
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	164.5	140.5	0	305	53.93	4 5A03	45A03	1	0
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	176.5	131	0	307.5	57.4	5 5A03	55A03	1	0
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	180.5	125	0	313.5	57.58	1 5A14	15A14	1	0
First measurement (pre-measurement) 24-10-2020 (week 1)		7 24-10-2020	0	150	149	0	299	50.17	5 5A14	55A14	1	0
Second measurement 01-12-2020 (week 2)		9 1-12-2020	0	174	132	0	306	56.86	2 2A14	22A14	1	0
Υ Υ	2	9 1-12-2020	0	179	122	0	301	59.47	3 2A14	32A14	1	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	189	126.5	0	315.5	59.9	4 2A14	42A14	1	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	212.5	104	0	316.5	67.14	3 2A18	32A18	1	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	198 5	102 5	9	310	64.03	5 2A18	52A18	1	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	199	111	0	310	64.19	2 5403	25403	-	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	170 5	140.5	0.5	311 5	54.74	4 5403	45403	1	0
	2	0 1 12 2020	0	200 5	140.5	0.5	206 5	54.74 60.2E	4 5A05	45/05	1	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	209.5	101	0	212	67.62	1 EA14	15405	1	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	211	101	0	205 5	07.03	I 5A14	13A14	1	0
	2	9 1-12-2020	0	1/9	120.5	0	305.5	56.59	5 5A14	33A14	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	U	147.5	152.5	5.5	305.5	48.28	2 2A14	22A14	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	U	170	138	0	308	55.19	3 2A14	32A14	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	202	113.5	0	315.5	64.03	4 2A14	42A14	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	170.5	145.5	0	316	53.96	3 2A18	32A18	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	179.5	125.5	0	305	58.85	5 2A18	52A18	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	140.5	160.5	0	301	46.68	2 5A03	25A03	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	109.5	192	0	301.5	36.32	4 5A03	45A03	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	178.5	127.5	0	306	58.33	5 5A03	55A03	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	131	176.5	0	307.5	42.6	1 5A14	15A14	1	0
	3	13 8-12-2020	0	136	173	0	309	44.01	5 5A14	55A14	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	104.5	201	0	305.5	34.21	2 2A14	22A14	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	147	157.5	0	304.5	48.28	3 2A14	32A14	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	153.5	151	0	304.5	50.41	4 2A14	42A14	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	124	178	0	302	41.06	3 2A18	32A18	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	171	139	0	310	55.16	5 2A18	52A18	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	132.5	166.5	0	299	44.31	2 5A03	25A03	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	145.5	163	0	308.5	47.16	4 5A03	45A03	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	160	141.5	0	301.5	53.07	5 5A03	55A03	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	142	156.5	0	298.5	47.57	1 5A14	15A14	1	0
	4	16 15-12-2020	0	181.5	122.5	0	304	59.7	5 5A14	55A14	1	0
5 (05-01-2021)	-	20 5-1-2021	0	110	180	0	290	37.93	2 2A14	22414	1	0
5 (05-01-2021)		20 5-1-2021	0	180	121	0	301	59.8	3 2014	32414	-	0
Last measurement (and measurement) 18-12-2020		10 18-12-2020	1	183 5	122 5	1	308	50.58	J 2A14	42414	1	0
		20 E 1 2021	1	100.0	123.J	1	202 5	42.02	2 2A14	22714	1	0
5 (05-01-2021) 5 (05-01-2021)		20 5-1-2021	0	130	1/3.3	0	303.3	42.03	5 2A10	52410	1	0
5 (05-01-2021)		20 5-1-2021	0	114	195.5	0	307.5	57.07	5 ZA16	32A18	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020		19 18-12-2020	1	130.5	155.5	0	310	50.48	2 5AU3	25AU5	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020		19 18-12-2020	1	1/9	127.5	1.5	308	58.12	4 5A03	45A03	1	0
5 (05-01-2021)		20 5-1-2021	U	157.5	136.5	0	294	53.57	5 5A03	55A03	1	0
5 (05-01-2021)		20 5-1-2021	0	200	89	0	289	69.2	1 5A14	15A14	1	0
5 (05-01-2021)		20 5-1-2021	0	153	147.5	0	300.5	50.92	5 5A14	55A14	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021		24 12-1-2021	1	188	121.5	0	309.5	60.74	2 2A14	22A14	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021		24 12-1-2021	1	185	120	0	305	60.66	3 2A14	32A14	1	0
	6	24 12-1-2021	0						4 2A14	42A14	1	0
6 (12-01-2021)		24 12-1-2021	0	172.5	134.5	0	307	56.19	3 2A18	32A18	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021		24 12-1-2021	1	154	157	0	311	49.52	5 2A18	52A18	1	0
	6	24 12-1-2021	0						2 5A03	25A03	1	0
	6	24 12-1-2021	0						4 5A03	45A03	1	0
6 (12-01-2021)		24 12-1-2021	0	122.5	170	0	292.5	41.88	5 5A03	55A03	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021		24 12-1-2021	1	181.5	123	0	304.5	59.61	1 5A14	15A14	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021		24 12-1-2021	1	145.5	163.5	0	309	47.09	5 5A14	55A14	1	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020		19 18-12-2020	1	142	165	1.5	308.5	46.03	1 4	14	0	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020		19 18-12-2020	1	174.5	128.5	0	303	57.59	2 4	24	0	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 18-12-2020		19 18-12-2020	1	163	144.5	0	307.5	53.01	3 4	34	0	0

Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	24 12-1-2021	1	210.5	100	0	310.5	67.79	1	4A	14A	0	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	24 12-1-2021	1	236.5	76.5	0	313	75.56	2	4A	24A	0	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	24 12-1-2021	1	143	163.5	0	306.5	46.66	3	4A	34A	0	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	24 12-1-2021	1	130.5	182.5	0	313	41.69	4	4A	44A	0	0
Last measurement (end measurement) 12-01-2021	24 12-1-2021	1	128.5	180	0	308.5	41.65	5	4A	54A	0	0

## Appendix 3 The number of times / the time the mice exhibit behavior or seek contact with the researcher

Session	Date	Last measuremen	nt Freez	ing Groom	ing Sniffing pla	atform R	ear U	rinating	Defecation	Vocalisation	No feed intake	Jumpir	ng Escape atter	npt Strech atter	nd Sniffle at 0.5 cr	n Paw on the har	d Touch the han	d Jump on the hand	Eating the reward	Totale time on hand researcher	Totale time seek contact with researcher	Pull back	Time it takes for the mouse to be injected	Individ	dual Treatm	ent Lev	/el
7	24-10-2020		0	0	6	13	8	0	2	0	1 1	3	0	70	75									12/	:A18	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	0	6	24	0	0	2	0	) 2	4	0	46	63									22/	:A18	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	0	4	13	8	0	3	0	1 1	5	0	51	44									32/	:A18	1	0
7	24-10-2020		0	6	3	23	0	0	3	0	1 1	9	0	44	31									42/	:A18	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	0	7	12	2	0	2	0	) 2	0	0	63	46									52/	:A18	1	0
7	24-10-2020		0	0	4	13	2	0	6	0	1 1	0	0	45	38									154	A03	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	1	1	11	0	0	2	0	1 1	5	0	62	34									254	A03	1	0
7	24-10-2020		0	0	3	9	3	0	6	0	) 1	0	0	39	44									35 <i>F</i>	A03	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	0	3	35	17	0	1	0	)	1	0	65	45									45 <i>F</i>	A03	1	0
7	24-10-2020		0	0	2	17	5	0	3	0	)	1	0	59	57									55 <i>F</i>	A03	1	0
7	24-10-2020		0	0	5	16	16	0	2	0	)	0	0	70	52									15/	A14	1	0
7	24-10-2020		0	0	6	11	5	0	5	0	1	9	0	68	34									254	A14	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	0	5	13	5	0	3	0	1 1	8	0	58	41									354	A14	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	0	6	17	7	0	5	0	1 1	4	0	50	47									45A	A14	2	1
7	24-10-2020		0	0	7	25	2	0	2	0	) 2	0	0	59	55									55A	A14	1	0
8	26-10-2020		0	3	1	19	0	0	2	0	1	0	0	44	33									12/	:A14	2	1
8	26-10-2020		0	0	3	16	14	0	3	0	1	0	0	90	47									22/	:A14	1	0
8	26-10-2020		0	2	4	22	8	0	3	0	1 1	3	0	60	22									32/	:A14	1	0
8	26-10-2020		0	0	7	29	0	0	2	0	) 1	9	0	41	28									42 <i>F</i>	:A14	1	0
8	26-10-2020		0	0	1	29	3	0	4	0	1	5	0	53	46									52/	:A14	2	1
24	12-1-2021		1	5	4	31	0	0	4	0	1	8	0	48	26	6	3	6 0	5	4	45	1	5.	5 12/	:A18	2	7
																								22/	:A18	2	3
																								32/	:A18	1	0
																								42/	:A18	2	1
24	12-1-2021		1	1	3	28	12	0	3	0	) 1	2	0	47	43	8	1	4 0	2	8.5	25	2	25.	5 52A	.A18	1	0
19	18-12-2020		1	0	0	23	1	0		0	)	1	0	29	56	2	7 1	0 2	5	34.5	65	0	9.	5 15A	A03	2	7
19	18-12-2020		1	1	2	37	0	0		0	)	5	0	54	27	3	4	6 0	2	4	27	4	2	4 25A	A03	1	0
19	18-12-2020		1																					35/	A03	2	7
19	18-12-2020		1	0	2	26	0	0		0	)	5	0	48	35	4	5	7 1	0	64.5	72.5	5	6	5 45A	A03	1	0
																								55A	A03	1	0
24	12-1-2021		1	1	2	22	0	0	4	0	1	3	0	49	42	5	6	3 2	0	61.5	68	0	3.	5 15A	A14	1	0
24	12-1-2021		1	4	6	17	0	0	4	0	1	3	0	23	21	11	1 1	0 0	3	0.5	29.5	0	3.	5 25A	A14	2	7
24	12-1-2021		1	0	4	21	5	0	6	0	) 1	0	0	39	46	7	5	3 2	2	44	64	1		ó 35A	A14	2	7
24	12-1-2021		1	2	2	29	0	0	4	0	) 1	1	0	32	34	6	3	6 1	0	16.5	34.5	0	3	4 45A	A14	2	7
24	12-1-2021		1	1	7	21	0	0	3	0	) 1	5	0	56	42	12	1	6 0	1	1	18.5	1	8.	ś 55A	A14	1	0
24	12-1-2021		1	0	4	20	1	0	4	0		6	0	58	48	5	8	9 2	1	33	45.5	0	1.	5 12A	.A14	2	7
24	12-1-2021		1	0	1	26	7	0	5	0		0	0	57	40	3	5	6 1	4	27	56	1		э 22/	.A14	1	0
24	12-1-2021		1	10	5	41	1	0	4	0	) 1	4	0	50	25	5	0	2 0	0	0	5	1		5 32A	.A14	1	0
19	18-12-2020		1	3	5	21	0	0	4	0	) 1	5	0	45	39	12	6	9 0	1	11	42.5	4	3	7 42A	.A14	1	0
19	18-12-2020		1	0	1	29	0	0	3	0		8	0	40	44	6	5	9 1	1	40	70.5	0		5 52A	.A14	2	7
19	18-12-2020		1	10	1	37	0	0	2	0	) 1	9	0	44	14	4	0	2 0	0	0	٤	4	24.	5	14	0	0
19	18-12-2020		1	3	1	21	0	0		0	) 1	9	0	34	44	6	3	9 0	0	8	26	6	32.	5	24	0	0
19	18-12-2020		1	0	2	57	1	0		0	) 1	7	0	73	38	11	1	6 0	0	3	15.5	3	16.	ż	34	0	0
24	12-1-2021		1	4	2	34	0	1	4	0	) 1	4	0	36	29	3	7	0 4	0	87.5	90	2	1	9 1	14A	0	0
24	12-1-2021		1	0	1	25	1	1	5	0	) 1	4	0	63	54	3	2	1 1	0	47.5	50	0		5 2	24A	0	0
24	12-1-2021		1	0	4	31	3	0	4	0	) 1	0	0	85	35	10	5	1 1	0	21.5	28.5	6	7	8 3	34A	0	0
24	12-1-2021		1	3	5	29	0	0	4	0	1	0	0	52	31	10	2	U 0	0	6.5	14.5	8	8	4 4	44A	U	0
24	12-1-2021		1	5	6	29	0	0		0	) 1	6	0	50	38	12	6	4 0	0	17.5	29	0	3	5 S	54A	0	0